

Fakultät für Medizin

Lehrstuhl für Kinder- und Jugendmedizin

Forschungszentrum für krebskranke Kinder

GENERATION OF TRANSGENIC, GPR64 TUMOR ANTIGEN-SPECIFIC T CELLS AND EVALUATION OF THEIR THERAPEUTIC EFFICACY IN PEDIATRIC SARCOMA

Isabel Maria Storz

Vollständiger Abdruck der von der Fakultät für Medizin der Technischen Universität München zur Erlangung des akademischen Grades eines

Doktors der Medizin

genehmigten Dissertation.

Vorsitzende(r):

Prof. Dr. Ernst J. Rummeny

Prüfer der Dissertation:

1. Priv.-Doz. Dr. Günther Richter

2. Prof. Dr. Stefan Burdach

Die Dissertation wurde am 31.07.2019 bei der Technischen Universität München eingereicht und durch die Fakultät für Medizin am 11.02.2020 angenommen.

Für meine Familie

Table of contents

1 INTRODUCTION	8
1.1 Ewing Sarcoma	8
1.2 CAR T cell therapy	10
1.3 GPR64	14
2 AIM OF THIS STUDY	16
3 MATERIAL	17
3.1 List of manufacturers	17
3.2 List of instruments and equipment	20
3.3 List of consumables	21
3.4 List of chemical and biological reagents	22
3.5 List of commercial reagent kits	25
3.6 Media, Buffer and Solutions	26
3.6.1 List of cell culture media and universal solutions	26
3.6.2 List of buffer and gel for DNA electrophoresis	26
3.7 Antibodies	27
3.7.1 Antibody for crosslinking	27
3.7.2 List of antibodies for flow cytometry	27
3.7.3 List of antibodies for ELISpot assays	27
3.8 TaqMan® Gene Expression Assays for qRT-PCR	27
3.9 Bacterial strain for plasmid multiplication	28
3.10 List of human cancer cell lines	28
3.11 Vector	29
3.12 Mouse model	30
4 METHODS	31
4.1 Cell culture methods	31
4.1.1 Freezing and thawing of cells	31
4.1.2 Cultivation of cell lines	31
4.1.3 Cell counting	32
4.2 Isolation of blood cells	32
4.2.1 Isolation of peripheral blood mononuclear cells	32
4.2.2 Isolation of T cell subpopulations	32

4.3	Mini- and maxipreparation of plasmid DNA	32
4.4	Agarose gelelectrophoresis and gel extraction	33
4.5	RNA isolation	33
4.6	cDNA synthesis	33
4.7	Quantitative Real Time PCR (qRT-PCR)	33
4.8	Design of retroviral CAR constructs	34
4.9	Transduction of PBMCs with CAR constructs	34
4.10	Enrichment of transduced T cell populations	35
4.1	10.1 Sorting via flow cytometry	35
4.1	10.2 Sorting via magnetic beads	35
4.11	Flow cytometry	35
4.12	Immobilization of biotinylated antigen to streptavidin-coated beads	36
4.13	ELISpot assay	36
4.14	xCelligence assay	37
4.15	ELISA	37
4.16	In vivo experiments	37
4.17	Statistical analysis	38
5 R	RESULTS	39
- 4		
5.1 Sarce	Identification of GPR64 as suitable target for adoptive 1 cell therapy in Ewing omas) 39
5.2	Characterization of monoclonal antibodies directed against GPR64	42
5.3	Generation of GPR64 tumor antigen-specific CAR T cells	43
5.3	B.1 Design and features of the GPR64 specific 20F8 and 8F5 CAR T cells	43
5.3	3.2 Successful Transduction and enrichment of GPR64 specific CAR T cells	44
5.3	3.3 Growth of GPR64 specific CAR T cells	46
5.4	Functionality of GPR64 transgenic T cells	47
5.4	4.1 Peptide recognition of GPR64 specific CAR T cells	47
5.4	4.2 Target recognition of GPR64 specific CAR T cells	48
5.4	4.3 Target-specific killing of GPR64 specific CAR T cells	50
5.5 T cel	Expression of exhaustion-associated transcription factors GPR64 specific CA	AR 51
5.6	Cytokine secretion of GPR64 specific CAR T cells	52
5.7	Fluorescence microscopy of 20F8 CAR T cells	54
5.8	In vivo reactivity of GPR64 specific CAR transgenic T cells in Rag2-/-yc-/- mice	e55

6 DISCUSSION

7	CONCLUSION AND FURTHER PERSPECTIVES	66
8	SUMMARY	67
9	APPENDIX	69
9.1	List of abbreviations	69
9.2	Supplemental tables	72
9.3	List of figures	73
9.4	List of tables	74
10	ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	75
11	REFERENCES	76

1 INTRODUCTION

1.1 Ewing Sarcoma

The Ewing Sarcoma (EwS) is a highly aggressive bone or soft tissue tumor mostly occurring in children and adolescents. In 1921 it was first described by the American pathologist James Ewing and characterized by an undifferentiated small blue round cell appearance (Ewing 1972). According to histopathological and molecular pathological characteristics the WHO classified the Ewing Sarcoma family tumors (ESFT), the peripheral primitive neuroectodermal tumor (PNET), the extraosseous Ewing Sarcoma (EES) and the Askin tumor uniformly as Ewing Sarcoma (Fletcher et al. 2013).

After osteosarcoma, EwS is the second most common primary sarcoma of bone in children and adolcents. The most common age at diagnosis is the second decade of life and male patients are a little more often diagnosed than female patients (1.2:1 ratio of males:females) (Bernstein et al. 2006). Furthermore the Caucasian population is more frequently affected than other populations implying a strong contribution of germline variation to Ewing sarcoma tumorigenesis (Worch et al. 2011). Possible causes of the epidemiologic difference are currently the subject of research. A previous study by Grunewald et al. describes the A risk allele, which might contribute to the variable susceptibility to Ewing sarcoma across populations. It is associated with significantly higher EGR2 expression in Ewing sarcoma tumors. EGR2 is a proliferation-enhancing gene whose suppression inhibits the proliferation of EwS cells and even led to tumor regression in a mouse model. A comparative study by the 1000 Genome Project yielded a significantly increased frequency of the described risk allele in the genetic material of Europeans compared to the genome of Africans (Grunewald et al. 2015). Genetically EwS is characterized by fusions between EWSR1 (Ewing sarcoma break point region 1) and members of the ETS (erythroblast transformation specific) gene family, in 85% of all cases FL1, in 10% ERG. The EWS-FLI1 fusion protein results from the chromosomal translocation t (11;22) (q24:q12) and encodes an aberrant transcription factor. It binds DNA at GGAA-microsatellites, which has either an activating or more frequent a suppressive effect on target gens (Riggi et al. 2014). Some of the proteins up-regulated by EWS-FLI1 are enhancer of zeste homolog 2 (EZH2), insulin like growth factor 1 (IGF1), six-

transmembrane epithelial antigen of prostate (STEAP1) and G protein-coupled receptor 64 (GPR64) contributing to proliferation, invasiveness and metastasis (Cironi et al. 2008, Richter et al. 2009, Grunewald et al. 2012, Richter et al. 2013).

There is an ongoing debate on the identification of the cell of origin of EwS, as EwS appears as an undifferentiated tumor (Ewing 1972). Numerous cells of origin have been suggested, such as mesenchymal stem cells (MSC) and neural crest cells (Staege et al. 2004, Kovar 2005, Riggi et al. 2008, Tanaka et al. 2014). Much of the difficulty in identifying the tissue of origin for EwS results from the toxicity of EWSR1-ETS fusion genes to most cell types (Kovar 2005). The present view is that the disease arises from some mesenchymal or neural crest derived stem or progenitor cell, yet the question of the cell of origin is not finally clarified (Kovar et al. 2016).

Main symptom of EwS is localized pain, followed by swelling and loss of function of the affected bone. EwS is often diagnosed late after first symptoms because they are misinterpreted for signs of growth or injury (Widhe et al. 2000). Most common localization is the pelvic bone (26%), followed by the diaphysis oft the long bones of the lower extremities (femur 20%) (Bernstein, Kovar et al. 2006). In adults EwS occurs less frequently, but the ratio of manifestation as soft tissue sarcoma increases with later age of onset (Potratz et al. 2012). About 20% to 30% of patients have metastases in lung, bone and/or bone marrow at the time of diagnosis, which is an unfavorable prognostic factor (Bernstein, Kovar et al. 2006, Thiel et al. 2016).

The treatment of EwS relies on a multidisciplinary approach that combines chemotherapy with local therapy consisting of surgery and radiation (Gaspar et al. 2015). Whenever possible, surgeries are performed aiming complete resection. But often bone replacement in growing children is still a challenge. Adjuvant as well as neoadjuvant chemotherapy is added using different protocols. An ongoing study is comparing the combination of vincristine, ifosfamide, doxorubicin and etoposide, which is recommended in Europe (Juergens et al. 2006), and the combination of ifosfamide etoposide together with vincristine. doxorubicin and and cyclophosphamide, which is recommended in North America (Grier et al. 2003, Felgenhauer et al. 2013). Radiation therapy is used neoadjuvant or post-surgery in cases of incomplete remission (Schuck et al. 2003). Allogeneic stem cell transplantation is an additional treatment option for patients with advanced EwS

showing early relapse or metastasis to multiple bones (Burdach et al. 2000). Patients with advanced Ewing sarcomas, which are defined by early relapse (<24 months after diagnosis) and/or by metastasis to multiple bones or bone marrow, have an overall survival of \leq 10% after ten years (Burdach et al. 2010, Stahl et al. 2011). Although overall survival for patients with localized disease is with 65% to 75% a lot higher, these patients suffer from acute and long-term toxicities of the therapies (Gaspar, Hawkins et al. 2015). These poor future prospects demonstrate the urgent need for new therapy options. In this context, one promising new therapeutic treatment modality is the development of adoptive T cell therapy, such as engineered T-cell therapy.

1.2 CAR T cell therapy

Chimeric antigen receptor (CAR) T cell therapy is a type of adoptive T cell therapy using T cells transduced with a chimeric receptor specific to a tumor antigen. CAR T cell therapy uses gene transfer technology to reprogram a patient's own T cells to express the CAR combining the high affinity binding of an antibody with the lytic potential of T cells. CAR T cells bind to the targeted antigen, get activated, proliferate and can perform potent anti-tumor effect. Eshhar and colleagues generated CARs for the first time in 1989. They combined an antibody and T cell receptor (TCR) subunits and expressed these fusion products on T cells to mediate major histocompatibility complex (MHC) independent T cell activation (first generation CARs) (Gross et al. 1989, Eshhar et al. 1993). As CARs do not require antigen processing or HLA expression to be recognized, they are broadly applicable to HLA-low expresser patient populations. They can still target tumor cells that have down regulated proteasomal antigen processing or HLA expression preventing tumor escape as seen in TCR T cell therapy, another approach in the field of adoptive T cell therapy that is heavily under investigation (Zhou et al. 2012). Another benefit of CAR T cell therapy is its low risk of graft-versus-host disease (Anwer et al. 2017). However, first generation CAR T cells showed limited efficacy in clinical trails, probably due to lack of long-term T cell expansion or activation induced cell death of the T cells (Lamers et al. 2006, Till et al. 2008, Jensen et al. 2010). But, over the last decades the structure of CARs has been intensely investigated to most commonly consisting in

the extracellular domain of a single-chain variable fragment (scFv) derived from a monoclonal antibody (mAb) and a spacer, typically the $IgG_1 CH_2CH_3$, and in the intracellular domain of a CD3 ζ signaling chain providing the primary signal (referred to as first generation CAR). Combination with one (second generation CAR) or two (third generation CAR) costimulatory domains leaded to improved proliferation, cytotoxicity and persistence (**Figure 1**) (Maher et al. 2002, Finney et al. 2004, Imai et al. 2004, Milone et al. 2009). Despite the general finding that CARs that incorporate costimulatory signals are more potent, there is still research going on to find out if any particular costimulatory molecule is superior to another. CARs of the 4th generation, so-called TRUCKs or armored CARs, are engineered to secrete factors that improve anti-tumor activity even further, such as cytokines or costimulatory ligands (**Figure 1**) (Chmielewski et al. 2015).

Current CAR-modified T cells are limited to recognize cell surface antigens, but they can work as "living drugs" that may have both immediate and long-term effects. Redirecting immune reactivity toward a chosen target is not the only purpose of CAR T cells. CARs with different strengths and quality can modulate T cell expansion, persistence and the strength of T cell activation within the tumor microenvironment altering the efficacy and safety of tumor-targeted T cells. In this context, CAR transduced T cells have the potential of a broader range of functional effects than TCR transgenic T cells whose strength of signaling is mainly determined by the TCR's affinity to the antigen (Sadelain et al. 2013).

In the growing field of tested CAR T cell therapies the ones using CD19, a B-cell activation receptor, specific CARs are the most advanced engineered T-cell therapies currently being under investigation. In patients with relapsed or refractory B-cell malignancies, including acute lymphoblastic leukemia (ALL), chronic lymphocytic leukemia (CLL) and non-Hodgkin lymphoma, who were treated with CD19 CAR T cells expressing either a CD28 or a 4-1BB costimulatory domain, durable remissions have been induced in multiple clinical trails (Grupp et al. 2013, Davila et al. 2014, Maude et al. 2014, Kochenderfer et al. 2015). In August 2017 the US Food and Drug Administration (FDA) approved a gene therapy against cancer for the first time. Kymriah[™] is a suspension for intravenous infusion containing CD19 specific CAR T cells for the treatment of patients up to 25 years of age with B-cell precursor ALL that is refractory or in second or later relapse (Morrow 2017).

Even though these excellent results in CAR T cell therapy could be achieved, there are still two main safety concerns associated with the use of CARs. One of them is the immune-mediated rejection of normal tissues expressing the targeted antigen. This problem could be solved with truly tumor-specific cell surface molecules making the identification of suitable targets for CAR T cell therapy even more important. The most common and potentially severe toxicity that occurred in studies with CARmodified T-cell therapy is the cytokine release syndrome (CRS), an inflammatory process related to T-cell proliferation resulting in highly elevated cytokine levels (Maus et al. 2014). This syndrome is closely associated with a systemic macrophage activation syndrome. CRS causes from mild flu-like symptoms to high fever, hypotension and in extreme cases life-threatening organ failure and shock. Due to high-dose steroids, vasopressors, ventilator support and supportive care most CRS toxicities are manageable. In most cases, developing CRS seems to correlate with efficacy of the antitumor activity, but there is not a strong correlation between the degree of CRS and the response to therapy (Davila, Riviere et al. 2014). Unlike the handling of many conventional drug-induced side effects, reduction of the CAR T cell dosage does not control the syndrome. As an increase in IL-6 is associated with severe CRS, the treatment with tocilizumab, an interleukin-6 receptor inhibitor, a treatment has been found to relieve CRS without affecting efficacy of CAR T cell treatment (Lee et al. 2014).

However, success with CAR T cell therapy so far is primary limited to hematologic malignancies and is rarely achieved in solid tumors. When applied to solid tumors CAR T cells have either shown limited clinical activity or toxic effects (Lamers, Sleijfer et al. 2006, Pule et al. 2008, Morgan et al. 2010). An exception is for example a series of pediatric patients with GD2-expressing neuroblastoma treated with GD2-specific CAR T cells resulting in tumor regression in 3 of 11 patients with active disease (Louis et al. 2011). Compared to hematologic malignancies solid tumors present a different set of challenges: to reach a solid tumor engineered T cells have to overcome barriers such as exiting the blood vessels and infiltrating in the tumor. Physical barriers from the surrounding stroma as well as abnormal vasculature complicate efficient infiltration into solid tumors. Within the tumor an altered metabolism with a multitude of immunosuppressive factors challenges T cells. Furthermore the selection of the target antigen plays an important role. In contrast to antigens presented on hematologic malignances, target antigens on solid tumors are

often heterogenous, differing not just within one tumor but also between both primary and metastatic tumors. In addition to these general problems targeting solid tumors with CAR-containing T cells have two main specific challenges to struggle with. First of all, CAR T cells seem to penetrate solid tumors less than TCR T cells. And furthermore, CAR T cells so far lack specific tumor targets because their target antigens are surface proteins often also expressed in normal tissue, which complicates their impact on solid tumors (Garber 2018).



Figure 1: CAR structure. CARs contain an extracellular single-chain variable fragment (scFv), a spacer and intracellular signaling domains. The intracellular component includes the CD3 ζ intracellular signaling domain of the T-cell receptor either alone (first generation) or in combination with one (second generation) or two (third generation) costimulatory domains. The 4th generation of CARs describes constructs with an inducible expression cassette for a secreted transgene.

That is why more research hast to be done to take the promising results of CARbased therapy in hematologic malignancies on to solid tumors (Abken 2015).

1.3 GPR64

G protein-coupled receptor 64 (GPR64), also known as Adhesion G protein-coupled receptor G2 (ADGRG2) or human epididymis-specific protein 6 (HE6) is a heterodimeric membrane-bound protein encoded by the ADGRG2 gene (Hamann et al. 2015). It is an orphan member of the adhesion G-protein-coupled receptor (GPCR) family. GPR64 consists of two subunits: a large, hydrophilic and highly glycosylated ectosubunit and a hydrophobic endosubunit. It is characterized by a seven transmembrane (TM7) domain, that is linked to an extracellular region via a conserved GPCR proteolytic site (GPS) domain (**Figure 2**) (Kirchhoff et al. 2006). For the GPS motif cleavage has been shown (Obermann et al. 2003).

Under normal conditions GPR64 is highly expressed in the epithelia of ductuli efferentes and proximal epididymis, but not in any other adult tissue (Osterhoff et al. 1997). More specifically it is expressed in the non-ciliated principal cells of the proximal excurrent ducts, which are primarily implicated in sperm concentration and testicular fluid reabsorption (Kirchhoff et al. 2008). Mutant male mice with a targeted disruption of GPR64 showed sperm stasis and duct obstruction, resulting from dysregulation of fluid reabsorption, and complete loss of fertility. As hormonal levels in the knockout males were not significantly different from those in wild-type mice, it is supposed that GPR64 receptors exert their functions directly in a tissue or cell type of the male genital tract (Davies et al. 2004).

GPR64 was found to be highly up-regulated in EwS (Staege, Hutter et al. 2004). Richter et al. considered it to be a highly specific marker for EwS with a positivity/sensitivity of 94.7% and specificity of 89.8%. They also described its role in ES and showed that it promotes invasiveness and metastasis via up-regulation of PGF and MMP1. Apart from its high sensitivity and specificity for EwS among sarcomas, high levels of GPR64 expression were also found in prostate, kidney, nonsmall cell lung cancer and melanoma cell lines, while moderate to low levels of GPR64 expression were observed in brain, ovary, breast and colon cancer as well as in leukemia (Richter, Fasan et al. 2013).



intracellular

Figure 2: Scheme of GPR64 protein within the membrane. The seven transmembrane domain (TM7) is connected via the G-protein-coupled receptor proteolysis site (GPS) domain to the extracellular region containing the serine/threonine/proline-rich region (STP) and the sea urchin sperm protein, enterokinase and agrin (SEA) module-like region of variable length. A: epitope for antibody against endosubunit; N2: epitope for antibody against ectosubunit. Modified from Kirchhoff, Obermann et al. (2006).

2 Aim of this study

Based on the recent success in CAR T cell therapy, the aim of this study was to generate transgenic, GPR64 tumor antigen-specific T cells and to evaluate their therapeutic efficacy in Ewing sarcoma. Therefore, GPR64 had to be confirmed as a suitable target for CAR T cell therapy. Two different GPR64-specific monoclonal antibodies derived from rat hybridoma, namely 20F8 and 8F5, were sequenced and the identified specific binding portion of these antibodies were synthesized and cloned into retroviral vectors for the infection of human T cells to allow production of GPR64 targeting cells for cancer treatment. The transgenic T cells were tested for their target recognition and lytic capacity *in vitro* comparing the results of the two different CAR constructs to each other. Furthermore, their anti-tumor effect in an immunodeficient mouse model was evaluated.

3 MATERIAL

3.1 List of manufacturers

Manufacturer	Location
Abcam	Cambridge, UK
Abott	Wiesbaden, Germany
ACEA	San Diego, California, USA
Ambion	Austin, Texas, USA
Applied Biosystems	Darmstadt, Germany
ATCC	Rockyville, Maryland, USA
Autoimmun Diagnostika	Strassberg, Germany
B. Braun Biotech Int.	Melsungen, Germany
BD Bioscience Europe	Heidelberg, Germany
Beckman Coulter	Palo Alto, California, USA
Beckton Dickinson	Heidelberg, Germany
Berthold detection systems	Pforzheim, Germany
Biochrom	Berlin, Germany
BioRad	Richmond, California, USA
Biozym	Hessisch Oberdorf, Germany
Brand	Wertheim, Germany
Dako	Hamburg, Germany
DCS	Hamburg, Germany
Elma	Singen, Germany
Eppendorf	Hamburg, Germany
Falcon	Oxnard, California, USA
Fermentas	St. Leon-Rot, Germany
Cayman Chemical Company	Ann Arbor, Michigan, USA

GE Healthcare	Little Chalfont, USA
GeneArt	Regensburg, Germany
Genomed	St-Louis, Missouri, USA
Genescript	New Jersey, USA
Genzyme	Neu-Isenburg, Germany
GFL GmbH	Segnitz, Germany
GLW	Würzburg, Germany
Greiner Bio-One GmbH	Frickenhausen, Germany
Heraeus	Hanau, Germany
ImmunoTools	Friesoythe, Germany
Implen GmbH	München, Germany
Jackson ImmunoResearch	West Grove, USA
Kisker Biothech	Steinfurt, Germany
Leica	Wetzlar, Germany
LGC Standards GmbH	Wesel, Germany
Life Technologies	Carlsbad, California, USA
Lonza	Basel, Switzerland
Mabtech	Hamburg, Germany
Machery & Nagel	Düren, Germany
Merck Milipore	Darmstadt, Germany
Metabion	Planegg, Germany
Miltenyi	Bergisch Gladbach
Mirus	Madison, Wisconsin, USA
Molecular BioProducts	San Diego, California, USA
Nalgene	Rochester, New York, USA
New England BioLabs	Frankfurt am Main, Germany
Origene	Rockville, Maryland, USA

PAA	Cölbe, Germany
Peprotech	Rocky Hill, New Jersey
Peps 4 Life Sciences	Heidelberg, Germany
Perkin Elmer	Akron, Ohio, USA
R&D Systems	Mineapolis, Minnesota, USA
Roche	Penzberg, Germany
Roth	Karlsruhe, Germany
Sarstedt	Nümbrecht, Germany
Sartorius	Göttingen, Germany
Scientific Industries	Bohemia, New York, USA
Scotsman	Milan, Italy
Sequiserve	Vaterstetten, Germany
Sempermed	Wien, Austria
Sigma Aldrich	St. Louis, Missouri, USA
Stratagene	Cedar Creek, Texas, USA
Syngene	Cambridge, UK
Systec	Wettenberg, Germany
TaKaRa Bio Europe	Paris, France
Taylor-Wharton	Husum, Germany
Thermo Fisher Scientific	Ulm, Germany
Thermo Scientific	Braunschweig, Germany
TKA GmbH	Niederelbert, Germany
TPP	Trasadingen, Switzerland
VWR	Darmstadt, Germany

3.2 List of instruments and equipment

Device	Specification	Manufacturer
Autoclave	V95	Systec
Bacteria shaker	Certomat BS-T	Sartorius
Ice maker	AF 100	Scotsman
Cell counting chamber	Neubauer	Brand
Centrifuge	Multifuge 3 S-R	Heraeus
Centrifuge	Biofuge fresco	Heraeus
Controlled-freezing box	Mr. Frosty	Nalgene
Electroporator	Nucleofactor I	Amaxa biosytems
Electrophoresis chamber		BioRad
ELISA Reader	Multiskan Ascent	Thermo Scientific
ELISpot reader	AID-ELIRIFL04	Autoimmun Diagnostika
Flow cytometer	FACScalibur [™]	Becton Dickinson
Freezer (-80°C)	Hera freezer	Heraeus
Freezer (-20°C)	Cool vario	Siemens
Fridge (+4°C)	Cool vario	Siemens
Gel documentation	Gene Genius	Syngene
Heating block	Thermomixer comfort	Eppendorf
Incubator	Hera cell 150	Heraeus
Liquid nitrogen reservoir	L-240 K series	Taylor-Wharton
Luminometer	Sirius Luminometer	Berthold detection systems
Multichannel pipette	(10-100 µl)	Eppendorf
Micropipettes	(0.5–10 µl, 10–100 µl, 20– 200 µl, 100–1000 µl)	Eppendorf
Microscope	DMIL	Leica
Nanophotometer		Implen

PCR cycler		Eppendorf
Pipetting assistant	Stripettor Plus	Falcon
Real-time PCR	7300 Real-Time PCR	Applied Biosytems
Rotator		GLW
Steril bench		Heraeus
Sonifier	S60H Elmasonic	Elma
Water bath		GFL GmbH
Vortexer	Vortex-Genie 2	Scientific Industries
Water purification system	TKA GenPure	TKA GmbH

3.3 List of consumables

Material	Manufacturer
6 well tissue culture plate	Falcon
24 well non- tissue culture plate	Falcon
96 well cell culture plate (round and flat bottom)	TPP
96 well cell culture plate (v bottom)	Greiner Bio-One
Cell culture flasks (25, 75, 175 cm ²)	Greiner Bio-One
Cell strainer 40 µm	Falcon
Columns (MACS, LS, MS)	Miltenyi
Cryovials 1.5 ml	Sarstedt
Cuvettes	Roth
E-plate 96	ACEA
Filters 0.45 µm	Sartorius
Gloves (nitril, latex)	Sempermed
MultiScreen-HA Filter Plates	Merck Milipore
Parafilm	Pechiney Plastics Packaging

Serological pipettes (5, 10, 25 ml)	VWR
Pipette filter tips (10, 100, 200, 1000 μ l)	Thermo Scientific
Pipette tips (10, 100, 200, 1000 μl)	Molecular BioProducts
Plates for qRT-PCR (96 well)	Applied Biosystems
Reagent reservoir (50 ml)	Falcon
Reagent reservoir (for 12 channel pipette)	VWR
Tubes for cell culture (polypropylene, 15, 50 ml)	Greiner Bio-One
Tubes for cell culture (polystyrene, 15 ml)	Falcon
Tubes for flow cytometry (5 ml)	Sarstedt
Tubes for PCR	Sarstedt
Safelock tubes for molecular biology (1.5, 2 ml)	Roth
Syringes (5 ml)	B. Braun
Single-use hypodermic needles (29 G 0.33 mm x 12.7 mm)	B. Braun

3.4 List of chemical and biological reagents

.

Reagent	Manufacturer
Agar	Sigma
Agarose	Invitrogen
AIM-V Medium	Invitrogen
Ampicilin	Merck
Anti-FITC MicroBeads	MACS Miltenyi Biotec
Anti-PE MicroBeads	MACS Miltenyi Biotec
autoMACS™ Rinsing Solution	Miltenyi
Blue Juice Gel Loading Buffer	Invitrogen

CHAPS hydrate	Sigma
Dimethylformamide	Roth
dNTPs	Roche
Dimethyl sulfoxide (DMSO)	Merck
D-luciferin	Perkin Elmer
DMEM medium	Invitrogen
Dynabeads® Human T-Activator CD3/CD28	Thermo Fisher Scientific
eBio-GPR1 Peptide	Peps 4 Life Sciences
eBioscience [™] Streptavidin PE	Invitrogen
Erythrocyte Lysis Buffer	Pharmazie, Klinikum rechts der Isar
Ethanol	Merck
Ethidium bromid (EtBr)	BioRad
Fetal calf serum (FCS)	Biochrome
Ficoll-Paque	GE Healthcare
Formaldehyd (37%)	Merck
Glycerol	Merck
Glycin	Merck
G418	PAA
Hank's buffered salt solution (HBSS)	Invitrogen
HEPES	Sigma
Human IgG	Genzyme
Human male AB serum	Lonza
Hydrochloric acid (HCI)	Merck
Isofluran	Abott
Isopropanol	Sigma
L-glutamin	Invitrogen

MACS® BSA Stock Solution	Miltenyi
Magnesium chloride (MgCl ₂)	Invitrogen
Maxima™ Probe/ROX qPCR Master Mix (2x)	Fermentas
Na-pyruvate	Invitrogen
Non-essential amino acids (100x, NEAA)	Invitrogen
NP-40 Surfact-Amps [™] Detergent Solution	Thermo Fisher Scientific
Paraformaldehyde (PFA)	Merck
PCR buffer (10x)	Invitrogen
Pepton	Invitrogen
Phosphate buffered saline (PBS) 10x	Invitrogen
Proleukin (recombinant human interleukin 2)	Novartis
Propidium iodid	Sigma
Prostaglandin E ₂ (PGE ₂)	Cayman Chemical Company
Protease Inhibitor Cocktail, EDTA-free	Sigma
Puromycin	PAA
Recombinant human interleukin 15	Peprotech
(rhIL-15)	
Retronectin	TaKaRa
RPMI 1649 medium	Invitrogen
Sodium azide (NaN ₃)	Merck
Sodium hydroxide (NaOH)	Merck
Sodium Orthovanadate	New England BioLabs
Streptavidin-coated polysterene particles (SCPP)	Kisker Biotech
Streptavidin-Horse Radish Peroxidase	Mabtech
TransIT®-293	Mirus

Trypan blue	Sigma
Trypsin/EDTA	Invitrogen
TWEEN 20	Sigma
1-bromo-3-chloropane (BCP)	Sigma

3.5 List of commercial reagent kits

Name	Manufacturer
AccuPrime Taq DNA Polymerase System	Invitrogen
CD8 ⁺ T cell Isolation Kit, human	Miltenyi
Cell line Nucleofector® Kit R	Lonza
High-Capacitiy cDNA Reverse Transcription Kit	Applied Biosystems
Human TNF-alpha Quantikine ELISA Kit	R&D Systems
Human INF-gamma Quantikine ELISA Kit	R&D Systems
Human IL-2 Quantikine ELISA Kit	R&D Systems
JETSTAR 2.0 Plasmid Maxiprep Kit	Genomed
MycoAlert™ Mycoplasma Detection Kit	Lonza
NucleoSpin® Plasmid Kit	Machery-Nagel
StrataPrep® DNA Gel Extraction Kit	Stratagene
TaqMan® Gene Expression Assays	Applied Biosystems
TRI Reagent RNA Isolation Kit	Ambion

3.6 Media, Buffer and Solutions

Name	Ingredients
Standard tumor medium	500 ml RPMI 1640 medium or DMEM medium, 10% FCS, 100 U/ml penicillin and 100 µg/ml streptomycin
T cell medium (TCM)	500 ml AIM-V medium, 5% hAB serum, 100 U/ml penicillin and 100 µg/ml streptomycin
4% formaldehyde	4% Formalin, 55 mM Na₂HPO₄, 12 mM NaH₂PO₄-H₂O
4% paraformaldehyde	4% PFA in PBS, adjusted to pH 7.4
LB medium	10 g peptone, 5 g yeast extract, 10 g NaCl, in 1000 ml distilled water
LB agar medium	LB medium, 2% select agar
FACS staining buffer	0.5% BSA in PBS
Freezing medium (human cells)	hAb serum, 10% DMSO
Freezing medium (tumor cells)	FCS, 10% DMSO

3.6.1 List of cell culture media and universal solutions

3.6.2 List of buffer and gel for DNA electrophoresis

Name	Ingredients
TAE running buffer	50xTAE: 2 M Tris, 10% EDTA (0.5 M), 5.1% HCI
Electrophoresis gel	200 ml TAEbuffer (1x), 0.7-3% agarose, 3 µl EtBr

3.7 Antibodies

3.7.1 Antibody for crosslinking

Anti-Mouse IgG, Fcy fragment specific (Jackson ImmunoResearch)

3.7.2 List of antibodies for flow cytometry

Name	Conjugation	Clone	Manufacturer
Anti-human CD8	FITC	RPA-T8	BD Biosciences
Anti-human CD8	APC	RPA-T8	BD Biosciences
Anti-human IgG (γ- chain specific),	FITC		Sigma Aldrich
Anti-human IgG1	APC	X40	BD Biosciences
Anti-human IgG Fc	PE		Abcam
Anti-human EGFR- biotinylated	PE		Merck/Erbitux (Institute of Virology, Technical University of Munich)
Anti-human EGF Receptor	PE	EGFR.1	BD Biosciences

3.7.3 List of antibodies for ELISpot assays

Name	Specification	Manufacturer
Anti-human IFNγ mAB	1-D1K, purified	Mabtech
Anti-human IFNγ mAB	7-B6-1, biotinylated	Mabtech

3.8 TaqMan® Gene Expression Assays for qRT-PCR

All TaqMan® Gene Expression Assays were obtained from Applied Biosystems.

Gene	Assay ID
АСТВ	Hs99999903_m1
GAPDH	Hs99999905_m1
GPR64	Hs00971379_m1
PRDM1	Hs00153357_m1
TBX21	Hs00203436_m1

3.9 Bacterial strain for plasmid multiplication

The chemically competent One Shot® TOP 10 E. coli strain (Invitrogen) with the following genotype was used for the propagation of plasmids: F-mcrA Δ (mrr-hsdRMS-mcrBC) φ 80lacZ Δ M15 Δ lacX74 recA1 araD139 Δ (araleu) 7697 galU galK rpsL (StrR) endA1 nupG.

Name	GPR64 status	Description
A673	positive	EwS cell line (type 1 translocation with additional p53 mutation, established from the primary tumor of a 15-year-old girl.
SaOs	negative	OS
SH-SY-5Y	negative	NB cell line which is a thrice-cloned sub-line of bone marrow biopsy-derived line SK-N-SH.
SIMA	negative	NB cell line established 1991 from a stage III tumor of a 20-month-old Caucasian boy.
SK-N-MC	positive	EwS cell line with a type 1 translocation established from the supraorbital metastases of a 14-year-old girl with Askin's tumor (related to EwS).
TC-71	positive	EwS cell line with a type 1 translocation established on 1981 from a locally relapsed EwS of a 22-year-old man.

3.10 List of human cancer cell lines

3.11 Vector

The retroviral vectors pMP71_20F8_CAR (**Figure 3**) and pMP71_8F5_CAR (**Figure 4**) were obtained from GeneArt.



Figure 3: Vector map of the retroviral pMP-71 vector containing the 20F8 CAR construct.



Figure 4: Vector map of the retroviral pMP-71 vector containing the 8F5 CAR construct.

3.12 Mouse model

In the experiments a mouse model on a BALB/c background, which has knockouts in the Rag2 as well as in the gamma(c) locus, was used. Deletion of the Rag2 locus leads to a complete loss of peripheral B-lymphocytes as well as thymus-derived T-lymphocytes. The common cytokine receptor gamma chain (γc) is a functional subunit of a variety of cytokine receptors including the IL-2, IL-7 and IL-15 receptor. Loss of this gene leads to an impaired development of natural killer cells (NK cells) and hampers survival of NK cells and T-lymphocytes. As a result the Rag2^{-/-}γc^{-/-} mouse model is completely abolished from NK cells as well as B- and T-lymphocytes and can be claimed as immunodeficient (Goldman et al. 1998). The animals were obtained from the Central Institute for Experimental Animals (Kawasaki, Japan) and kept in the Zentrum für Präklinische Forschung (Klinikum rechts der Isar, Munich) under pathogen free conditions.

4 METHODS

4.1 Cell culture methods

4.1.1 Freezing and thawing of cells

For freezing, human T cells as well as transgenic T cells were cryopreserved in aliquots containing $3x10^5$ cells/ml in precooled human AB serum with 10 % DMSO, all other cells in concentrations between $1x10^6$ and $1x10^7$ cells/ml in precooled FCS with 10 % DMSO. After re-suspension of pelleted cells in the desired volume of the appropriate freezing medium, 1 ml aliquots of the cell suspension were transferred into pre-cooled cryovials, which were placed into controlled freezing boxes for 12 – 18 hours at -80°C. Afterwards they were transferred into a liquid nitrogen reservoir (-192°C) for long-term storage. For recovery of cryopreserved cells, cryovials were thawed at 37°C, then washed with appropriate medium to remove cytotoxic DMSO and transferred into T75 cell culture flasks.

4.1.2 Cultivation of cell lines

All Ewing Sarcoma and neuroblastoma cell lines were cultured in RPMI 1640 medium (Invitrogen) with 10% FCS (Biochrom), 100 U/ml penicillin and 100 µg/ml streptomycin (Invitrogen). 293VecRD114 (RD114) packaging cell lines were cultured in DMEM (Invitrogen) containing 10% FCS, 1mM Na-pyruvate, 1mM non-essential amino acids and antibiotics. T cells were cultured in AIM-V medium (Invitrogen) with 5% human AB serum and antibiotics. All cells were cultivated in T25, T75 or T175 culture flasks (Greiner Bio One) at 37°C and 5% CO2. Suspension cell lines were split every 3 - 4 days 1:2 to 1:10 according to their individual growth rate. Adherent cells received fresh medium every 3 - 4 days and were split 1:5 to 1:10 weekly. Therefore medium was aspirated completely and cells were washed with PBS. Then they were incubated with Trypsin/EDTA (Invitrogen) at 37°C. After detachment, cells were washed and an appropriate amount of cells was re-cultured in fresh cell culture flasks. All cell lines were tested regularly with the MycoAlert[™] Mycoplasma Detection Kit according to the manufacturer's instructions (Lonza) to detect mycoplasma contamination. In case of contamination with mycoplasms, cells were replaced by freshly thawed cell aliquots.

4.1.3 Cell counting

Cell numbers were determined with a Neubauer hemocytometer using Trypan-Blue (Sigma) exclusion method of dead cells.

4.2 Isolation of blood cells

4.2.1 Isolation of peripheral blood mononuclear cells

For the isolation of peripheral blood mononuclear cells (PBMCs), human peripheral blood samples provided by the DRK-Blutspendedienst Baden-Württemberg-Hessen, Ulm, Germany, were separated via density gradient centrifugation using Ficoll-Paque (GE Healthcare) according to the supplier's instructions. In detail, the blood-cell concentrate was diluted 1:2 with PBS and layered on top of Ficoll-Paque in a ratio of 2:3. After centrifugation for 30 minutes at 400 x g without active deceleration, the PBMC containing interlayer was collected and washed twice with PBS. In case of contamination with erythrocytes, the cell pellet was re-suspended in Erythrocyte Lysis Buffer and incubated for 5 minutes at 37°C before the reaction was stopped with PBS. Cells were counted and frozen or cultured.

4.2.2 Isolation of T cell subpopulations

To obtain an unlabeled CD8⁺ T cell population, the CD8⁺ T cell isolation kit (Miltenyi) was used according to the manufacturer's instructions.

4.3 Mini- and maxipreparation of plasmid DNA

For Minipreparation of plasmid DNA the NucleoSpin® Plasmid Kit (Machery & Nagel) was used according to the manufacturers guidelines. To obtain large amounts of plasmid preparations were performed according to the supplier's information using the JETSTAR 2.0 Plasmid Maxiprep Kit. Via spectrophotometry DNA content was measured. Plasmids were analyzed via restriction enzyme analysis and sequencing. For restriction analysis of plasmids, DNA was incubated for 1-2 hours at 37°C

together with EcoRI and Notl restriction enzymes and fragment size analyzed after agarose gelelectrophoresis.

4.4 Agarose gelelectrophoresis and gel extraction

Agarose gelelectrophoresis was performed to separate DNA fragments. Agarose was dissolved in 150ml TAE buffer, 4 µl EtBr were added and DNA was supplemented with 6x Blue Juice Gel Loading Buffer (Invitrogen). Gel pockets were filled with up to 20 µl DNA containing suspension. As a size standard the 1kb plus ladder (Invitrogen) was used. Electrophoresis was run at 5-10 V/cm gel for 45 minutes. For isolation of DNA from agarose gel, bands were cut out and purified using the StrataPrep® DNA Gel Extraction Kit according to the manufacturer's instructions.

4.5 RNA isolation

RNA isolation was performed using TriReagent following the supplier's instructions. For all nucleic acid measurements a Nanophotometer Pearl was used according to manufacturer's information.

4.6 cDNA synthesis

To transcribe RNA into complementary DNA (cDNA), the High-Capacity cDNA Reverse Transcription Kit (Applied Biosystems) was used following the manufacturer's instructions.

4.7 Quantitative Real Time PCR (qRT-PCR)

To perform qRt-PCRs MaximaTM Probe/ROX qPCR Master Mix (2x) was used together with specific TaqMan® Gene Expression Assays (Applied Biosystems), which consisted of two unlabeled PCR primers and a FAMTM dye-labeled TaqMan® MGB probe. Reaction mixes were prepared following the manufacturer's instructions

(Fermentas PureExtremeTM Insert). Gene expression profiles were normalized to mRNA levels of the glyceraldehyde 3-phosphate dehydrogenase (GAPDH) housekeeping gene. They were calculated using the 2-ddCt method. The mean value and standard deviations of duplicates was displayed graphically using Microsoft Excel. Determination of the statistical significance was carried out by using the conventional t-test. Fluorescence measurement was performed using an AB 7300 Real-Time PCR system following a three-step cycling protocol: 1s 50°C; 10min 95°C; (15s 95°C; 1min 60°C) 40x (Applied Biosystems).

4.8 Design of retroviral CAR constructs

Two second generation CARs each containing the scFv fragments of one monoclonal antibody (mAb) directed against the extracellular region of GPR64 were synthesized and subcloned into pMP-71 retroviral backbones by GeneArt. The 20F8 and the 8F5 CAR were constructed by linking sequences from a signal peptide derived from the human immunoglobuline heavy chain to a GPR64-specific single chain variable fragment (scFv) derived from the 20F8 or the 8F5 antibody, followed by a spacer domain containing the CH_2CH_3 domains from human IgG₁. The two GPR64-specific CARs also include an intracellular CD28 costimulatory domain and a human CD3 ζ signaling domain. Via a T2A domain they are connected to a truncated version of the EGF-receptor (EGFRt).

4.9 Transduction of PBMCs with CAR constructs

PBMCs were transduced using a retroviral infection system. On day 1.3×10^5 RD114, which were used as packaging cell line, were seeded in 3 ml RD114 medium in a 6 well plate. On day 2, 200 µl supplement-free DMEM and 9 µl TansIT (Mirus) transfection reagent for each approach were incubated for 20 minutes at room temperature. Then 1 µg CAR encoding retroviral plasmid was added and incubated for another 30 minutes to enable complex formation between plasmid and transfection reagent. PBMCs were isolated the same day and activated either via 50 ng/ml OKT3 and 100 U/ml rhIL-2 or via anti-CD3/CD28 microbeads (bead: cell ratio 3:1) together with rhIL-7 and rhIL-15 (5 ng/ml each). On day 3, non-tissue culture 24

well plates were coated with 5 μ g Retronectin/well to increase transduction efficacy by bringing virus and cells in close proximity. On day 4, spin transduction was performed. 1x10⁶ T cells were incubated with 1 ml virus supernatant, cytokines, 1% HEPES and 4 μ g/ml protaminsulfate. Plates were centrifuged for 90 minutes at 32°C and then incubated at 37°C for 24 hours. On day 5, transduced cells were split 1:2 and the procedure of day 4 was repeated. Transduction efficacy was checked on day 10 via analysis in flow cytometry.

4.10 Enrichment of transduced T cell populations

4.10.1 Sorting via flow cytometry

Via the Flow Cytometry FACS Unit of the Institute of Medical Microbiology, Immunology and Hygiene (Technische Universität München) the CAR positive T cell population was sorted.

4.10.2 Sorting via magnetic beads

CAR expression after transduction of GPR64-specifc CAR constructs into PBMCs could be increased after CAR-based sorting using an anti-EGFR antibody (BD Biosciences) and anti-PE MicroBeads (Miltenyi).

4.11 Flow cytometry

Cells were washed with staining buffer (0.5% BSA in PBS) two times and resuspended at a concentration of $4x10^6$ cells/ml staining buffer. Specific fluorochromelabeled monoclonal antibodies (mAb) were added and the suspension was incubated for 30 minutes at 4°C. Two additional washing steps were performed before cells were re-suspended in 300 µl PBS and analyzed on a FACScalibur flow cytometer (Becton Dickinson) with at least 25000 events/sample recorded. Analysis was performed using the Cellquest software (Becton Dickinson).

4.12 Immobilization of biotinylated antigen to streptavidin-coated beads

To monitor the presence of functional GPR64-specific T cells transduced with a CAR the method published by Elkord et al. was used (Elkord et al. 2011). Biotinylated GPR64 peptide was prepared by Peps 4 Life Sciences and coated onto Streptavidin-coated polysterene particles (SCPP, Kisker Biotech) following the published instructions.

4.13 ELISpot assay

In IFN_Y ELISpot assays, cells were used at an effector:target ratio of 1:20. All experiments were performed in triplicates. T cells without target served as a negative control.

On day 1, 96 well mixed cellulose ester plates (MultiScreen-HA Filter Plate) were coated overnight with 10 µg/ml IFNy trapping mAB (1-D1K) per well. On day 2, plates were washed 4 times with 200 µl PBS at 4°C. Afterwards PBS was replaced by T cell medium (150 µl/well) for at least 1 hour at 37°C and 5% CO₂ to avoid unspecific binding. During blocking time, T cells were harvested and washed three times with TCM. They were put to rest for 30 minutes at 4°C. T cells were incubated without targets for 30 minutes at 37°C before adding tumor cells. To avoid dispersion of T cells, target cells were carefully dripped on top. Then plates were incubated for 20 hours at 37°C and 5% CO₂. On day 3, plates were washed 6 times with PBS/0.05% Tween and then incubated with 2 µg/ml 7-B6-1 (IFNy) biotinylated mAb for 2 hours at 37°C and 5% CO₂. After incubation, plates were washed again six times with PBS/0.05% Tween and incubated with 200 µl Streptavidin-HRP (1:100 dilution) for 1 hour at RT, shielded from light. Then plates were washed three times with PBS/0.05% Tween and three times with normal PBS. 100 µl of development solution was allocated per well. Reaction was stopped after 5 to 10 minutes by washing the plates with cold water. After drying, Analysis was performed using the ELISpot reader.
4.14 xCelligence assay

The impedance based xCELLigence system allows the determination of specific inhibition of target cell growth by candidate T cell clones. The system detects cellular changes in real-time by measuring electrical impedance using golden microelectrodes. To allow target cell adhesion to the surface of the electrodes, cells were seeded 48 hours before adding T cells. For A673 cells 1 x 10^4 cells per well were used, for SK-N-MC, SaOs and SIMA 2.5 x 10^4 cells per well. Target specific T cells were added in titrated amounts ranging from an effector:target ratio of 20:1 – 0.3:1 on top of tumor cells and analysis performed over a total time period of 5 days with measurements every 15 minutes. Untreated target cells and medium alone served as controls. Experiments were executed in quintuplicates.

4.15 ELISA

To measure IFN- γ levels in cell culture supernates the Quantikine Human IFN- γ Immunoassay (RnDSystems) was utilized according to the manufacturer's instructions. For detection of IL-2 levels in cell culture supernates the Quantikine Human IL-2 Immunoassay (R&DSystems) was used according to the producer's briefings. To determine human TNF- α concentration in cell culture supernates the Quantikine Human TNF- α Immunoassay (R&DSystems) was used following the manufacturer's instructions. All experiments were executed in duplicates. Reaction product was quantified by measuring the absorbance (450 nm) using a Multiscan Ascent ELISA reader (Thermo Scientific). Analysis was performed using elisaanalysis.com. The mean value and standard error of the mean are displayed graphically using Microsoft Excel. Determination of statistical significance was carried out by using the conventional t-test.

4.16 In vivo experiments

To analyze local tumor growth *in vivo*, $Rag2^{-/-}\gamma c^{-/-}$ immunodeficient mice were inoculated with $2x10^6$ A673 cells subcutaneously into the groin. After 3 days mice received a full body irradiation with 3.5 Gray to facilitate engraftment of human T

cells. One day later we injected intra peritoneally (i.p.) $3x10^5$ GPR64 specific 20F8 CAR transgenic T cells together with $5x10^5$ PBMCs or $3x10^5$ GPR64 specific 8F5 CAR transgenic T cells together with $5x10^5$ PBMCs or no cells at all. Additionally, cells were provided with hIL-15 by injecting $1.5x10^7$ hIL-15 producing NSO cells (NSO-IL15) i.p. twice a week. Half of the mice with 8F5 CAR T cell treatment did not receive NSO cells. The experiments were stopped when tumors of any treatment group reached 1 cm³ or when mice suffered from any other disease. After 21 days tumors were weighted and analyzed via flow cytometry analysis.

4.17 Statistical analysis

Data are mean ± SEM as indicated. Differences were analyzed by unpaired twotailed student's t-test as indicated using Excel (Microsoft), or Prism 5 (GraphPad Software); p values < 0.05 were considered statistically significant.

5 **RESULTS**

5.1 Identification of GPR64 as suitable target for adoptive T cell therapy in Ewing Sarcomas

To determine EwS-specific antigens, microarray analyses were performed as published by our group (Richter, Fasan et al. 2013), identifying GPR64 as a strongly up-regulated gene in EwS. As shown in **Figure 5**A GPR64 is highly overexpressed in EwS tissue, whereas it is only minimally expressed in normal tissue. The expression of GPR64 within EwS cell lines was further confirmed by qRT-PCR. Additionally, its expression in various osteosarcoma and neuroblastoma cell lines was assessed. Whereas GPR64 is strongly expressed in EwS cell lines, especially in A673 and TC-71, it is almost not detectable in pediatric bone tumor and neuroblastoma cell lines (**Figure 5**B).

Immunohistochemistry indicated a strong expression of GPR64 in Ewing Sarcoma tissue samples stained with GPR64 specific hybridoma 20F8 (**Figure 5**C). 212 tissue samples were analyzed by Prof. Dr. Ivo Leuschner (Institute of Pathology of the faculty of medicine, University of Kiel). Tumor samples were evaluated using an immunoreactive score (IRS) based on staining intensity and number of positive cells, which is shown in the Appendix. 74% percent of the samples showed expression of GPR64. Staining with GPR64 specific hybridoma 8F5 was negative (not shown).



Figure 5: Expression profile of GPR64. In EwS GPR64 is highly up regulated. (A) Microarrays of 11 Ewing sarcomas (EwS) were compared with 133 samples of normal (black) and fetal tissue (FT) for GPR64 expression. (B) Quantification of GPR64 expression was analyzed by qRT-PCR of RNA in Ewing Sarcoma (EwS), Osteosarcoma (OS) and Neuroblastoma (NB) cell lines. Gene expression was normalized to glyceraldehyde-3-phosphate dehydrogenase (GAPDH). NTC, non-template control. Figures taken from (Richter et al. 2013). (C) Tissue samples of

Ewing Sarcomas were stained with GPR64 specific hybridoma 20F8. (i) negative (ii) Score 1-4: weakly positive (iii) Score 6-8: moderately positive (iiii) Score 9-12: strongly positive. Stained by Prof. Dr. Ivo Leuschner (†), Institute of Pathology of the faculty of medicine, University of Kiel.

5.2 Characterization of monoclonal antibodies directed against GPR64

Two different monoclonal antibodies (mAb) directed against the extracellular region of GPR64 were generated and characterized. Antibodies specifically stained EwS cells as determined by flow cytometry (**Figure 6**). The signal intensity was reduced after RNAi mediated knock down of GPR64 in EwS cell lines A673 and SK-N-MC confirming specificity of the mAbs. Following sequence determination of these GPR64-specific Hybridomas two different CAR constructs, 20F8 CAR and 8F5 CAR, were designed by the help from a collaboration together with Elisabeth Kremmer (Helmholtz-Zentrum Munich).



Figure 6: Characterization of GPR64 Hybridomas. Staining of EwS cell lines A673 and SK-N-MC with GPR64 specific hybridomas 8F5 and 20F8. Antibodies specifically stained EwS cells as determined by flow cytometry (green line). The signal intensity was reduced after RNAi mediated knock down of GPR64 in EwS cell lines (pink line) confirming specificity of mAbs. Staining with secondary Abs alone served as control.

5.3 Generation of GPR64 tumor antigen-specific CAR T cells

5.3.1 Design and features of the GPR64 specific 20F8 and 8F5 CAR T cells

The GPR64 specific 20F8 and 8F5 second generation CARs contain a human ΔIgG_1Fc and a CD28 trans membrane costimulatory domain complemented by a human CD3 ζ signaling domain. These constructs have an additional (safety)-feature: they are connected to a truncated version of the EGF-receptor (EGFRt) via a T2A domain that enables purification of CAR-transgenic T cells or their *in vivo* depletion via cetuximab treatment.

Retroviral constructs containing second generation CARs together with the scFv fragments of the respective mAbs were designed by the help of Karin Wisskirchen and Felix Bohne of the Institute of Virology (Technical University of Munich).

5.3.2 Successful Transduction and enrichment of GPR64 specific CAR T cells

Retroviruses containing GPR64 specific 20F8 and 8F5 CAR constructs transduced primary lymphocytes with good efficiency. After infection of PBMCs infection rate of 20F8 CAR and 8F5 CAR was monitored using flow cytometry with EGFRt and IgG1 (**Figure 7**). Both antibodies for flow cytometry showed similar results.



Figure 7: FACS staining after infection of peripheral blood mononuclear cells (PBMCs) with GPR64-CAR-positive retroviruses. After infection of PBMCs infection rate of both CARs, either 20F8 (right panel) or 8F5 (middle panel) is monitored via flow cytometry with EGFRt and IgG1 antibodies.

For further investigation the CAR transgenic T cells were enriched for CD8⁺ CAR⁺ cells via the Flow Cytometry FACS Unit of the Institute of Medical Microbiology, Immunology and Hygiene (Technical University of Munich) or via microbead isolation. Both ways of enrichment yielded rates of CD8⁺ CAR⁺ cells of over 95%. **Figure 8** shows an example of enrichment via magnetic beads.



Figure 8: Enrichment of GPR64 specific CAR T cells. Infection rate of both CARs, either 20F8 (upper panel) or 8F5 (lower panel), is monitored via flow cytometry with EGFRt after infection of PBMCs and subsequent enrichment via magnetic beads.

5.3.3 Growth of GPR64 specific CAR T cells

The growth of transduced cells was evaluated over 15 days by counting cells (**Figure 9**). Until day 8 GPR64 specific 20F8 CAR T cells grow as fast as GPR64 specific 8F5 CAR T cells. After day 8 GPR64 specific 20F8 CAR T cells continue to grow, whereas the number of GPR64 specific 8F5 CAR T cells decreases.



Figure 9: Growth curve of GPR64 specific CAR T cells. Growth of transduced cells was evaluated over 15 days by counting cells.

5.4 Functionality of GPR64 transgenic T cells

To test *in vitro* functionality of GPR64 specific CAR T cells human PBMCs of healthy donors were transduced with the 20F8 CAR and the 8F5 CAR construct and tested for specificity and lytic activity in ELISpot and xCelligence assays.

5.4.1 Peptide recognition of GPR64 specific CAR T cells

GPR64 specific CAR T cells were tested in ELISpot assays one to two weeks after transduction. After subsequent enrichment via magnetic beads the infection rate was monitored via flow cytometry with EGFRt (**Figure 10**A). Biotinylated GPR64-specific peptides were coated onto streptavidin-coated polystyrene particles (GPR64/SCPP) and used for determination of specific recognition by GPR64-CARs in ELISpot assay. Uncoated SCPP (PBS/SCPP) served as controls.

As shown in **Figure 10**B, upper panel, the GPR64 specific 8F5 CAR T cells recognized the appropriate antigen specifically and released IFN_Y. Without presentation on SCPP they showed a very low release of IFN_Y. 20F8 CAR T cells released high amounts of IFN_Y even without target presentation on SCPP (**Figure 10**B, upper panel).



Figure 10: Peptide recognition of GPR64 specific CAR T cells. (A) Monitoring of infection rate of both CARs, either 8F5 (upper panel) or 20F8 (lower panel), after infection of PBMCs and enrichment via magnetic beads via flow cytometry with EGFRt. (B) IFNy release of GPR64 specific CAR T cells during co-culture with biotinylated GPR64-specific peptides coated onto streptavidin-coated polystyrene particles (GPR64/SCPP) for determination of specificity. Uncoated SCPP (PBS/SCPP) served as controls.

5.4.2 Target recognition of GPR64 specific CAR T cells

One to two weeks after infection the GPR64 specific CAR T cells were tested in ELISpot assays. After enrichment using magnetic beads the infection rate was monitored via flow cytometry (**Figure 11**A). For further determination of specificity different GPR64-postive Ewing sarcoma cell lines (A673, TC-71, SK-N-MC) were compared to GPR64-negative cell lines (SIMA, SH-SY-5Y) in ELISpot assay. Also the IFNγ release of GPR64 specific CAR T cells without adding of any tumor cell line was measured.

As shown in **Figure 11**B, upper panel, GPR64 specific 8F5 CAR T cells were able to recognize GPR64-postive Ewing sarcoma cell lines, whereas GPR64-negtive cell

lines were not detected. GPR64 specific 8F5 CAR T cells without exposure to GPR64-positive or GPR64-negative cell lines present very low levels of IFNγ. However GPR64 specific 20F8 CAR T cells secret IFNγ in comparable levels when exposed to GPR64-postive or GPR64-negative cell lines as well as when they were cultivated alone (**Figure 11**B, lower panel).



Figure 11: Target recognition of GPR64-specific CARs. (A) Monitoring of infection rate of both CARs, either 8F5 (upper panel) or 20F8 (lower panel), after infection of PBMCs and enrichment via magnetic beads via flow cytometry. (B) IFNγ release of GPR64 specific CAR T cells during co-culture with different GPR64-postive Ewing sarcoma cell lines (A673, SK-N-MC, TC-71) and GPR64-negative neuroblastoma cell lines (SIMA, SH-SY-5Y) for further determination of specificity.

5.4.3 Target-specific killing of GPR64 specific CAR T cells

Target-specific tumor cell lysis by GPR64 specific CAR T cells was detected via xCelligence assay one to two weeks after T cell transduction. GPR64 specific 8F5 as well as 20F8 CAR T cells were added to vital GPR64-postive cell line A673 and vital GPR64-negative cell lines SH-SY-5Y. The xCelligence assays showed the lytic ability of both CAR T cells as A673 cells were rapidly killed after administration of T cells, whereas the growth of SH-SY-5Y cells was not affected (**Figure 12**A and B).



Figure 12: Target-specific killing of tumor cells by GPR64-specific CAR T cells. Contact dependent growth of Ewing sarcoma cells (A673) and neuroblastoma cells (SH-SY-5Y) was monitored in xCelligence assay. Specific recognition by GPR64-CARs 8F5 (A) or 20F8 (B).

5.5 Expression of exhaustion-associated transcription factors GPR64 specific CAR T cells

Expression of exhaustion-associated transcription factors PMDR1 (Blimp-1) and TBX21 (T-bet) of GPR64 specific 20F8 and 8F5 CAR T cells was measured via qRT-PCR at day 10 after infection (**Figure 13**). Gene expression of 20F8 and 8F5 CAR T cells was compared relative to the expression of PBMCs.

By day 10, GPR64 specific 20F8 CAR T cells showed a transcriptional profile consistent with exhaustion, including higher expression of exhaustion-associated transcription factors Blimp-1 and T-bet.



Figure 13: qRT-PCR expression levels of exhaustion-associated transcription factors PRDM1 and TBX21 of GPR64 specific 20F8 CAR and 8F5 CAR T cells. The measured expression levels were referred to the expression of PRDM1 and TBX21 of PBMCs. The measurements were taken at day 10 after infection. Gene expression was normalized to glyceraldehyde-3-phosphate dehydrogenase (GAPDH).

5.6 Cytokine secretion of GPR64 specific CAR T cells

As shown in **Figure 14** cytokine secretion of GPR64 specific 20F8 and 8F5 CAR T cells was examined via ELISA assays measuring IFN γ (A), IL-2 (B) and TNF- α (C) levels. Immunoassays were performed at days 7, 10, 13 and 17 after infection. IFN γ levels of 20F8 CAR T cells were higher than IFN γ levels of 8F5 CAR T cells at all measured points of time. Furthermore production of IFN γ of all CAR T cells was higher than the one of CAR negative cells. GPR64 specific 20F8 and 8F5 CAR T cell produce higher levels of IL-2 than CAR negative PBMCs. The TNF- α concentration of GPR64 specific 20F8 CAR T cells is higher compared to GPR64 specific 8F5 CAR T cells as well as compared to CAR negative cells. The production of TNF- α of GPR64 specific 8F5 CAR T cells is slightly lower than the one of CAR negative PBMCs at days 7, 10 and 13 after infection. At day 17 after infection the TNF- α concentration of GPR64 specific 8F5 CAR T cells is a high as the one of CAR negative cells.



Figure 14: Cytokine secretion of GPR64 specific 20F8 and 8F5 CAR T cells at days 7, 10, 13 and 17 after infection and CAR negative PBMCs as control. Concentration of IFN γ (A), IL-2 (B) and TNF- α (C) measured via ELISA assays.

5.7 Fluorescence microscopy of 20F8 CAR T cells

Green fluorescent protein (GFP) fluoresces when stimulated with blue or ultraviolet light. To examine the spatial distribution of our 20F8 CAR T cells, especially possible clustering, we transfected PBMCs with a GFP tagged 20F8 CAR. In **Figure 15** the 20F8⁺ GFP⁺ T cells are shown via fluorescence microscopy. It could be clearly observed that the CARs of 20F8 cluster without antigen contact.



Figure 15: Fluorescence microscopy of 20F8⁺ GFP⁺ CAR T cells. Clustering of PBMCs transfected with a GFP tagged 20F8 CAR.

5.8 *In vivo* reactivity of GPR64 specific CAR transgenic T cells in Rag2^{-/-}γc^{-/-} mice

To demonstrate *in vivo* efficacy of GPR64 specific CAR T cells Rag2^{-/-}yc^{-/-} mice were inoculated with EwS tumor cells and animals treated with CAR transgenic T cells 4 days later. To do this, 2 x 10⁶ A673 cells were injected subcutaneously into the groin of immunodeficient Rag2^{-/-}yc^{-/-} mice. After 3 days mice received full body irradiation with 3.5 Gray to facilitate engraftment of human T cells. One day later we injected intra peritoneally (i.p.) 3 x 10⁵ GPR64 specific 20F8 CAR transgenic T cells together with 5 x 10⁵ PBMCs or 3 x 10⁵ GPR64 specific 8F5 CAR transgenic T cells together with 5 x 10⁵ PBMCs or no cells at all. Additionally, cells were provided with hIL-15 by injecting 1.5 x 10⁷ hIL-15 producing NSO cells (NSO-IL15) i.p. twice a week. Half of the mice with 8F5 CAR T cell treatment did not receive NSO cells. The experiments cm³. stopped when tumors of any treatment group reached 1 were In the course of the experiment some animals died unexpectedly. No Graft-versus-Host disease (GvHD) in any of the mice could be observed. 21 days after initial tumor cell injection the tumors of remaining mice were weighted and analyzed via flow cytometry analysis. In Figure 16 absolute tumor weights are compared. Tumors of mice treated with GPR64 specific 8F5 CAR T cells were smaller compared to tumors of animals treated with unspecific PBMCs. Data of the mice treated with 20F8 CAR T cells could not be evaluated because too many of the mice died probably because of infection. However, no T cells could be found in tumor or spleen except for PBMCs (results not shown.)



Figure 16: *In vivo* activity of GPR64 specific CAR T cells. Absolute tumor weight was analyzed 21 days after initial tumor cell injection.

6 DISCUSSION

So far therapy options for Ewing sarcoma (EwS) patients with recurrent disease are limited. Currently allogeneic stem cell transplantation (allo-SCT) is used as an established therapy for hematologic malignancies. Donor T cells induce a graft versus tumor effect leading to eradication of the hematologic malignancies (Kolb et al. 1995, Burdach, van Kaick et al. 2000). However, in EwS comparisons between the survival rates of patients that received different conditioning before allo-SCT implicate an absence of a graft versus Ewing sarcoma (GvES) effect (Thiel et al. 2011). Another recent study shows that AES patients with no bone marrow involvement may be cured whereas patients with bone marrow involvement had a fatal outcome despite high dose therapy and allo-SCT (Thiel, Wawer et al. 2016). In general stem cell transplantation may lead to a GvHD disease resulting in a life-threatening situation for the patient (Baird et al. 2010). Taking together an additional therapeutic strategy is required to direct T cell reactivity towards EwS rather than the host tissue (Thiel et al. 2011).

Immunotherapy, which allows the identification and isolation of tumor specific T cells, has had enormous success over the last couple of years making it an interesting opportunity also for EwS (Couzin-Frankel 2013, June et al. 2015, Rosenberg et al. 2015). Within immunotherapy two different types of adoptive T cell therapies have developed in the last decades: T cells expressing a T cell receptor (TCR) as well as T cells expressing a chimeric antigen receptor (CAR) (Gross et al. 1989, Gross, Waks et al. 1989). Especially CAR T cell therapy has already showed convincing clinical outcomes in the treatment of hematologic malignancies resulting in the approval of the first adoptive T cell therapy against cancer in the USA: Kymriah^{IM}, a CAR Т directed **CD19** (Morrow cell therapy against 2017). Following the success of CAR T cell therapy in the treatment of hematologic malignancies, many investigators are currently trying to obtain similar results in the treatment of solid tumors. Compared to hematologic malignancies solid tumors present a different set of challenges. They show various characteristics and are localized in a completely diverse compartment of the body. Challenging aspects of the transition into solid tumors include the careful selection of target antigen, the management of on-target off-tumor toxicity, and the modulation of the immunosuppressive tumor microenvironment.

To develop an efficient adoptive T cell therapy-approach the selection of a suitable target antigen for the cytotoxic T cells is essential. For CAR T cell therapy a tumorselective target, a target that is exclusively expressed by cancer cells, would be optimal. Ideally the targeted antigen is required for the tumors survival and shows harboring mutations that are large enough to produce new epitopes that can be specifically recognized by the CAR (Gross et al. 2016). For the treatment of EwS a tumor specific antigen derived from the EWS-FL1 translocation, that typically characterizes EwS, would be an ideal target for T cell mediated therapy (Delattre et al. 1992). However, both proteins EWS and FLI1 are highly expressed in various cell types of healthy tissue making it a less suitable target as severe off-tumor toxicities are to be feared. As in many cases optimal targets are mostly unavailable so far targeted antigens are tumor-associated antigens being also expressed by healthy tissue. In the absence of an ideal tumor-selective target, however, antigens are preferred that are either topologically sequestered from T cells or co-expressed by non-essential tissues. In the first case, epithelial antigens can provide some tumor selectivity based on altered topology with polarized membrane distribution in healthy cells, while uniformly distributed on cancer cells, like carcinoembryonic antigen (CEA). Using DNA microarray 37 genes that are up-regulated in EwS were identified previously (Staege, Hutter et al. 2004). One of them is G-protein coupled receptor 64 (GPR64), an orphan member of the family of G-protein-coupled receptors (GPCRs), which have a history of being selected as a therapeutic target (Kirchhoff, Obermann et al. 2006). As current CAR-modified T cells are limited to recognize cell surface antigens the membrane-bound receptor GPR64 seems a potentially drugable protein. As shown in the results GPR64 is highly up-regulated in EwS. The two monoclonal antibodies 20F8 and 8F5 directed against the extracellular region of GPR64, that we generated and characterized, specifically stained EwS cells. Especially the 20F8 CAR shows great potential because of the strong expression of GPR64 in Ewing Sarcoma tissue samples stained with GPR64 specific hybridoma 20F8 shown via immunohistochemistry. Furthermore, GPR64 is normally expressed only in epididymis, which is considered to be a non-essential tissue. Therefore, it is a suitable target for adoptive T cell therapy in Ewing Sarcomas. As shown in the results GPR64 is specifically detected by our GPR64-specific 8F5 CAR T cells demonstrated via ELISpot assay.

58

In the past different CAR designs with respect to the extracellular domain, transmembrane domain and costimulatory moieties have already been tested (Si et al. 2018). For our experiments we used GPR64-specific 20F8 as well as 8F5 CAR T cells containing a CD28-CD3ζ signaling domain. As shown in the results the design of our CAR T cells is functional. We are able to transduce and purify the T cells with high efficacy as shown above. In vitro EwS cells are not only recognized by our GPR64-specific CAR T cells but are also killed as shown via xCelligence assay. In general many CAR modifications are merely empiric or were found functional in the particular context others still need systemic evaluation (Sadelain, Brentjens et al. 2013). New findings identified the choice of costimulatory domain among other things to be crucial for optimal T cell activation. Despite the general finding that CARs that incorporate costimulatory signals are more potent, there is research going on to find out if any particular costimulatory molecule is superior to another (Quintarelli et al. 2018). Comparing clinical trails with different costimulatory domains of CAR transgenic T cells directed against the same target there is no clear assertion that pleads for one combination of costimulatory domains. Especially in vivo studies show promising results with different costimulatory domains. Clinical investigations at the University of Pennsylvania with second generation CAR T cells directed against CD-19 containing a 4-1BB-CD3ζ achieved elimination of high tumor burdens and persistence of CAR T cells for at least 3 years, with retention of anti-tumor activity (Porter et al. 2015). Using anti-CD19 CAR T cells with a CD28-CD3ζ signaling domain, similar clinical results were achieved by the Memorial Sloan Kettering Cancer Institute (Brentjens et al. 2011) and the National Cancer Institute (Kochenderfer et al. 2012). In the long-term, patients treated with CD28-CD3ζ CAR T cells frequently underwent subsequent allogeneic stem cell transplantation, whereas most patients treated with 4-1BB-CD3ζ CAR T cells did not receive any further treatment (Holzinger et al. 2016). But it has to be mentioned that 4-1BB-CD3ζ CAR T cells have a prolonged persistence of up to 2 years compared to the one of about 30 days for CD28-CD3ζ CAR T cells. So in case of a treatment with CD28-CD3ζ CAR T cells doctors may tend to decide for a subsequent allogeneic stem cell transplantation because of the shorter persistence of CAR T cells. Despite the extensive use of CAR T cells in clinical studies, the attributes of CAR co-stimulatory domains that influence persistence and resistance to exhaustion of CAR T cells still remain largely undetermined. But in vitro studies comparing different costimulatory

domains recent results point to improved antitumor efficacy using 4-1BB signaling domains. It was recently reported that CD28 costimulation augments, whereas 4-1BB costimulation reduces, early exhaustion of CAR T cells explaining limited antitumor efficacy of some studies (Long et al. 2015). These results provide a possible explanation for the observations that CD19 CAR T cells incorporating the 4-1BB costimulatory domain are more persistent than those incorporating CD28 in clinical trials. Another recent study provided a mechanistic insight into the differential persistence of CAR-T cells expressing 4-1BB or CD28 signaling domains. CAR T cells with 4-1BB domains promoted the outgrowth of CD8⁺ central memory T cells with significantly enhanced respiratory capacity, enhanced fatty acid oxidation and increased mitochondrial biogenesis. In contrast, inclusion of CD28 in the CAR architecture yielded effector memory cells with enhanced glycolytic metabolism (Kawalekar et al. 2016). These results suggest that one mechanism for the differential persistence of CAR T cells may be the metabolic reprogramming depending on the costimulatory domain. A clinical application of these findings is that with the choice of costimulatory domain the persistence of CAR T cells can be influenced. In case of targeting antigens where long-term CAR effects may not be tolerable due to extensive off-tumor toxicity short-lived CAR T cells should be preferred. In our case, targeting an antigen where concerns about off-tumor toxicity can be neglected the persistence of the GPR64 specific CAR T cells can be prolonged with the choice of costimulatory domain. Replacing the CD28 costimulatory domain with a 4-1BB domain in our GPR64 specific CAR T cells could ameliorate especially the results of our 20F8 CAR T cells and prolong their persistence as our 20F8 CAR T cells show shorter persistence then our 8F5 CAR T cells.

Another aspect to consider is that the T cell profile of a patient is individual suggesting that personalized immunotherapy and individualized T cell subset profiling ameliorates cancer treatment. Thus, as a potential approach to increase the persistence and efficacy of CAR T cells the modulation of interleukin cocktails affecting the memory functions of T cells can be used. For example, a combination of IL-12 plus IL-7 or IL-21 for 3 days with the withdrawal of IL-12 led to a up-regulation of stem cell markers and to a less differentiated T cell phenotype (Yang et al. 2013). Other studies showed that T memory cell function and anti-tumor activity of CAR T cells can be increased by pre-treatment of T cells with IL-15 or IL-15 and IL-7 or IL-

15 and IL-21 (Klebanoff et al. 2004, Lamers et al. 2014, Xu et al. 2014). The best effector activity targeting GD2 tumor antigen was reached culturing CAR T cells in the presence of IL-7 and IL-15 (Gargett et al. 2015). As the impact of T cell differentiation and its cytokine-directed regulation on the efficacy of CAR T cell therapy is very complex further investigations should be done to be able to ameliorate the persistence and the effects of our 20F8 CAR T cells.

In our studies we did not only test our CAR T cells for their persistence but also for their selectivity. The GPR64 specific 8F5 CAR T cells showed specific target recognition whereas the 20F8 CAR T cells showed low selectivity and shorter persistence. A possible explanation may be the occurrence of autoactivation leading to general activation and hence to early exhaustion. T cell exhaustion is defined as subsequent physical deletion and dysfunction of antigen-specific T cells arising during chronic infection and cancer (Gallimore et al. 1998, Zajac et al. 1998, Virgin et al. 2009). It has been described as leading to poor effector function, sustaining expression of inhibitory receptors and showing a unique state of T cell differentiation (Wherry et al. 2007). It prevents ideal control of infection or tumors (Wherry 2011). Investigating the cytokine secretion of our GPR64 specific CAR T cells it is apparent that the 20F8 CAR T cells secrete higher levels of IFNy and TNF-α than our 8F5 CAR T cells. It was recently reported that antigen-independent clustering of CAR single-chain variable fragments triggers tonic CAR CD3² phosphorylation inducing autoactivation and early exhaustion of CAR T cells. Such activation limits antitumor efficacy and it can be found to varying degrees in many CARs studied, except the highly effective CD19 specific CAR (Long, Haso et al. 2015). As our 20F8 CAR T cells show higher cytokine levels and shorter persistence then our target specific 8F5 CAR T cells we tested them for early exhaustion via the measurement of the expression of exhaustion-associated transcription factors. Since some transcriptional pathways are used differently by exhausted T cells than by effector and memory T cells, analyzing the expression of exhaustion-associated transcription factors may provide insight into the potential presence of exhaustion (Wherry, Ha et al. 2007, Shin et al. 2009). For example, Blimp-1 (PMDR1) is a transcriptional repressor centrally involved in CD8+ T cell exhaustion (Shin, Blackburn et al. 2009). It regulates the terminal differentiation of cells in a variety of immunological settings and in large amounts it promotes the expression of inhibitory receptors and exhaustion (Martins et al. 2008, Bikoff et al. 2009). A similar role has Blimp-1, fostering the terminal

differentiation of T cells as well as the transcription factor T-bet (TBX21) when highly expressed (Joshi et al. 2008). Since the levels of the exhaustion-associated transcription factors Blimp-1 and T-bet of the 20F8 CAR T cells are strongly increased the theory of early exhaustion through autoactivation became even more probable (Long, Haso et al. 2015). Therefore, we further investigated clustering of the 20F8 CAR T cells via immunofluorescence in the absence of antigen and identified the existence of autoactivation as a possible explanation for limited effects of the 20F8 CAR T cells. Long et al. did not only discover the molecular pathways of early exhaustion of CAR T cells but also the influence of costimulatory domains on early exhaustion. 4-1BB endodomains ameliorate whereas CD28 costimulation augments exhaustion of CAR T cells providing another reason to replace the CD28 costimulatory domain with a 4-1BB domain in our GPR64 specific CAR T cells (Long, Haso et al. 2015). The identification that CAR ectodomains can influence CAR T cell exhaustion, and that antigen-independent activation and exhaustion occur to varying degrees in a variety of CARs, highlights the importance of optimizing CAR design and of further understanding of how receptor structure impacts function.

As low selectivity is a common problem, additional strategies to increase tumor selectivity concerning CAR design are currently being developed. For instance, co-expression of inhibitory CARs (iCARs) with PD-1 or CTLA-4 intracellular domains targeting an antigen exclusively expressed on healthy tissue can be included in CARs. The iCAR provides a dominant inhibitory signal when engaging healthy cells (Fedorov et al. 2013). Alternatively, split CAR systems are being developed. They consist of two CARs in the same T cell which both have to bind to their antigen to obtain T cell activation. Both of the CARs recognize different antigens by their individual scFvs, one CAR providing the CD3 ζ signal, the other CAR the costimulatory signal. Combination with a suppressor signal to suppress T cell activity (inhibitory CAR), when binding to healthy tissue, is also possible (Kloss et al. 2013). Clinical exploration of these strategies is challenging since it requires the adjustment of CARs to the individual antigen levels in tumors and healthy tissues but they might contribute to increasing tumor selectivity.

Investigating *in vivo* reactivity of the GPR64 specific 20F8 and 8F5 CAR transgenic T cells no CAR transgenic T cells could be found in tumor or spleen. But tumors of mice treated with GPR64 specific 8F5 CAR T cells were smaller compared to tumors

of animals treated with unspecific PBMCs. Unfortunately, data of the mice treated with 20F8 CAR T cells could not be evaluated because too many of the mice died probably because of an unrelated infection. As the tumors of mice treated with 8F5 CAR T cells became smaller but did not contain CAR T cells 21 days after initial tumor cell injection we can assume that the CAR T cells infiltrated in the tumor but did not persist until their examination. In vitro the 8F5 CAR T cells demonstrated long persistence but in vivo there are other influencing factors. In case of accumulation at the tumor site, CAR T cell anti-tumor response can be repressed by various factors within in the tumor microenvironment. For instance, inhibitory immune-checkpoint signals present within the tumor microenvironment, such as those from programmed cell-death protein-1 (PD-1) ligands or cytotoxic T-lymphocyte-associated antigen-4 (CTLA-4) ligands, can limit function of CAR T cells (Pardoll 2012, Hingorani et al. 2015, McCaughan et al. 2016). These inhibitory receptor-ligand interactions can be blocked with monoclonal antibodies that prevent suppression of T cells. Although this approach has shown promising results in some malignancies, the success of these therapies clearly depends on the presence of a pre-existing endogenous tumorspecific T-cell response (Rizvi et al. 2015, Robert et al. 2015, Van Allen et al. 2015, Choudhury et al. 2016). As it has been proven that CAR T cells are susceptible to PD-1-mediated inhibition the combination of CAR T-cell therapy with immunecheckpoint inhibitors may be a promising approach to protect CAR-T-cell function within the tumor microenvironment (John et al. 2013). Furthermore, 4th generation, so called "armoured", CAR T cells are modified to secrete pro-inflammatory cytokines to protect CAR T cells from the inhibitory tumor microenvironment. They showed resistance to immunosuppressive cells leading to improved antitumor efficacy, compared with T cells expressing the CAR alone. In several clinical studies armoured CAR T cells secreting IL-12 reached encouraging results (Chmielewski et al. 2011, Kerkar et al. 2011, Chinnasamy et al. 2012, Pegram et al. 2012).

Aside from the dynamic immunosuppressive tumor microenvironment also ineffective trafficking to the tumor or less in situ proliferation can hinder CAR T cell efficacy (Dotti et al. 2014). Not only to increase *in vivo* efficacy of CAR T cells but also to minimize the risk of "off-tumor" toxicities alternative routes for the delivery of T cells besides i.v. infusion are explored. For instance, CAR T cells were delivered via an endoscope to CEA positive metastases in the liver resulting in shrinking of metastases without systemic side effects (Katz et al. 2015). In another clinical study,

mesothelin-specific CAR T cells were administered directly in the pleura of mesothelioma patients (Beatty et al. 2014). Local application of the CAR T cells is assumed to have some advantages: It might include prompt antigen-induced activation to sustain robust T cell amplification. It could reduce the dose of CAR T cells required to induce efficacy when compared to systemic infusion. It is assumed to minimize systemic toxicities. And it might prolong persistence of CAR T cells in the tumor lesion.

Every therapy comes along with side effects that also have to be taken into account when working on new therapy approaches. Although adoptive CAR T cell therapy achieved spectacular results in the treatment of hematologic malignancies, significant toxicities occurred which need to be approached, as they can be life-threatening. Many toxic reactions in CAR T cell therapy are due to the expression of the cognate antigen on healthy tissue. So called "on-target off-tumor" targeting may result in lifethreatening side effects, in particular, when the antigen is expressed on essential tissues such as lung, heart or liver. The death of a patient during the treatment of metastatic colon cancer with CAR T cells directed against HER2/neu (ErbB2) shows the severity of "on-target off-tumor" toxicity (Morgan, Yang et al. 2010). HER2/neu is not only highly expressed by the carcinoma cells but, although at lower levels, also by healthy lung epithelial cells which is speculated to be the death causing reason. This "on-target off tumor" toxicity of CAR T cells makes the choice of antigen even more important for the clinical use and underlines the suitability of GPR64 as a target for CAR T cell therapy as it is not expressed on essential tissues such as lung, heart or liver. But the most common and potentially severe toxicity occurred in studies with CAR-modified T-cell therapy is the cytokine release syndrome (CRS) that is also associated to the systemic macrophage activation syndrome. It is caused by extensive release of toxic levels of pro-inflammatory cytokines that accompanies CAR T cell activation. The extensive activation of CAR T cells, with high IFN-y and TNF- α release, and the activation of monocytes or macrophages, which release IL-6, seem to play an important role in the pathomechanism of the toxic syndrome. In most cases, developing CRS seems to correlate with efficacy of the antitumor activity, but there is not a strong correlation between the degree of CRS and the response to therapy (Davila, Riviere et al. 2014). Unlike the handling of many conventional druginduced side effects, reduction of the CAR T cell dosage does not control the syndrome. With tocilizumab[®], an interleukin-6 receptor inhibitor, a treatment has

been found that improves CRS without affecting efficacy of the CAR T cell treatment (Lee, Gardner et al. 2014). As in our *in vivo* experiments some mice died unexpectedly we thought of possible side effects leading to their deaths. In addition to an infection leading to their deaths, but CRS is another possible cause of death and needs to be explored further.

Nevertheless, there are different safety features under investigation that are supposed to eliminate CAR transgenic T cells in cases of toxicity. Co-expression of inducible suicide genes represents a possibility to shut down cross-reactive T cells. For instance, herpes simplex virus thymidine kinase (HSV-tk), which phosphorylates the guanosine analog ganciclovir initiating the arrest of DNA replication, is a possible safety feature. Another inducible suicide gene under investigation is inducible caspase 9 (iCasp9), which encodes a modified truncated caspase 9 and initiates an apoptotic cascade upon drug-initiated dimerization (Hoyos et al. 2010, Budde et al. 2013). Another idea for a safety feature is the co-expression of a protein for which a depleting antibody is already in clinical use such as CD20 or EGFR. An elimination gene already used in the clinic is a nonfunctional, truncated version of EGFR that is co-expressed on the surface of CAR T cells. With the administration of cetuximab, an FDA-approved monoclonal antibody, these CAR T cells can be eliminated through activation of antibody-dependent cellular cytotoxity and/or the complement cascade (Wang et al. 2011). To be prepared for eventual toxicities also we incorporated a truncated version of EGF-receptor in our CAR designs. The GPR64 specific 20F8 as well as 8F5 second generation CAR constructs are connected to a truncated version of the EGFR via a T2A domain. We used an anti-EGFR monoclonal antibody together with anti-PE MicroBeads to purify our CAR-transgenic T cells. To show successful transduction and enrichment of GPR64 specific CAR T cells via flow cytometry we also applied EGFRt antibodies. In the future cetuximab could be used to eliminate the GPR64-specific 20F8 and 8F5 CAR T cells from the patient's blood in any case of toxicities.

7 CONCLUSION AND FURTHER PERSPECTIVES

This study shows the generation and efficiency of transgenic, GPR64 specific CAR T cells. Those cells are able to specifically recognize and lyse EwS target cells *in vitro*. Since GPR64 is not only overexpressed in EwS, but also in a number of carcinomas derived from prostate, kidney or lung, GPR64-specific CARs may also be a future treatment option for other tumor entities.

Nonetheless, before using those cells in the clinic several characterizing steps have to be performed. Especially the effects of CAR design on anti-tumor efficacy have to be further investigated. As exhaustion through autoreactivity is incompletely analyzed so far, further verification has to be done.

A number of important biological questions, including defining ideal targets, optimizing CAR signaling, working out optimal combinatorial strategies and identifying the best process for subset selection and T cell manufacturing, remain to be addressed. Furthermore T cell mediated toxicities have to be reduced and further characterizing steps have to be performed to increase the safety and efficacy of CAR T cells.

As so far success of CAR T cell therapy is limited to treatment of hematologic malignancies more research has to be done to take the promising results on to solid tumors.

8 SUMMARY

Ewing Sarcoma (EwS) is the second most common bone malignancy in children and young adolescents with a high potential of dissemination into lung and bones. Patients with localized disease receiving current treatment, have an approximate long-term survival of >65%. Patients with disseminated disease into the bone have an approximate long-term survival rate of only 10%, compelling the search for new therapeutic treatment modalities like engineered T cell therapy. Here the therapeutic potential of chimeric antigen receptor (CAR) transgenic T cells directed against Gprotein coupled receptor 64 (GPR64), an orphan receptor with normal expression restricted to human epididymis and significant overexpression in EwS, was examined. Therefore, two different monoclonal antibodies (mAb), namely 20F8 and 8F5, directed against the extracellular region of GPR64 were generated and characterized. Subsequently, retroviral constructs containing second generation CARs together with the scFv fragments of the respective mAbs were designed. Retroviruses containing either the 20F8 CAR or the 8F5 CAR transduced primary lymphocytes with good efficiency. The CAR transgenic T cells could be enriched for CD8⁺ CAR⁺ cells via microbead isolation and showed strong proliferative capacities in vitro. Furthermore, target structures were specifically recognized as determined by ELISpot and xCelligence assays. The significance of autoreactivity leading to less anti-tumor efficacy became evident in our 20F8 CAR T cells. First in vivo attempts show inhibition of tumor growth by 8F5 CAR T cells.

In summary, the cells generated in this study show strong specificity towards GPR64 and are able to control tumor cell growth *in vitro*. CAR transgenic T cells targeting GPR64 demonstrate a promising approach to transfer the success of CARs in hematological malignancies to solid tumors. Since GPR64 expression is not restricted to EwS but also up regulated in a number of carcinomas derived from prostate, kidney or lung, GPR64-specific CARs may also be a future treatment option for other tumor entities.

ZUSAMMENFASSUNG

Das Ewing Sarkom ist der zweithäufigste Knochentumor im Kindes- und Jugendalter und zeigt eine hohe Metastasierungsrate in Lunge und Knochen. Patienten mit lokalisiertem Befall haben derzeit unter leitliniengerechter Therapie ein durchschnittliches Langzeitüberleben von über 65%. Patienten mit metastasiertem Befund haben ein durchschnittliches Langzeitüberleben von nur 10%, was die Suche nach neuen Therapieoptionen wie CAR-T-Zell-Therapie zwingend nötig macht. In dieser Studie haben wir das therapeutische Potential von CAR transgenen T Zellen untersucht, die gegen GPR64, ein Orphan-Rezeptor mit normaler Expression beschränkt auf Nebenhoden und signifikanter Überexpression in Ewing Sarkomen, gerichtet sind. Hierfür wurden zwei verschiedene monoklonale Antikörper, namentlich 20F8 und 8F5, die gegen die extrazelluläre Region von GPR64 gerichtet sind, hergestellt und charakterisiert. Anschließend wurden retrovirale Konstrukte, die CAR Rezeptoren 2. Generation sowie die scFv Fragmente der jeweiligen monoklonalen Antikörper enthalten, designt. Retroviren, die entweder den 20F8 CAR oder den 8F5 CAR enthalten, transduzierten primäre Lymphozyten mit guter Effizienz. Die CAR transgenen T-Zellen konnten mittels magnetischer Beads auf CD8⁺ CAR⁺ Zellen aufgereinigt werden und zeigten gute Proliferationsfähigkeiten in vitro. Außerdem konnten wir durch ELISpot und xCelligence Untersuchungen demonstrieren, dass transgenen T-Zellen Zielstrukturen spezifisch wiedererkennen. Die Bedeutung der Autoreaktivität, die zu verminderter Anti-Tumor Wirksamkeit führt, wurde bei unseren 20F8 CAR T Zellen deutlich. Erste in vivo Versuche zeigten eine Hemmung des Tumorwachstums durch 8F5 CAR T Zellen.

Insgesamt zeigen die in dieser Studie generierten CAR T-Zellen eine hohe Spezifität gegenüber GPR64. Sie sind in der Lage, Tumorwachstum *in vitro* zu kontrollieren. Die gegen GPR64 gerichteten CAR transgenen T-Zellen stellen somit einen vielversprechenden Ansatz dar den Erfolg CAR transgener T-Zellen in der Therapie hämatologischer Erkrankungen auf die Behandlung solider Tumoren zu übertragen. Da die Expression von GPR64 nicht nur auf Ewing Sarkome beschränkt ist, sondern auch noch bei einer Vielzahl von Karzinomen der Prostata, Niere und Lunge beschrieben wurde, stellen GPR64 spezifische CAR T-Zellen auch eine zukünftige Therapieoption für andere Tumorentitäten dar.

68

9 APPENDIX

9.1 List of abbreviations

Ab	Antibody
ADGRG2	Adhesion G protein-coupled receptor G 2
ALL	Acute lymphoblastic leukemia
APC	Allophycocyanin
BCP	1-bromo-3-chloropane
BSA	Bovine serum albumin
CAR	Chimeric antigen receptor
CD	Cluster of differentiation
cDNA	Complementary desoxyribonucleic acid
CEA	Carcinoembryonic antigen
CRS	Cytokine release syndrome
CTLA-4	Cytotoxic T-lymphocyte-associated antigen-4
DMSO	Dimethylsulfoxid
EDTA	Ethylene diamine tetraacetic acid
EES	Extraosseous Ewing Sarcoma
EGFR	Epithelial growth factor receptor
ELISpot Assay	Enzyme Linked Immuno Spot Assay
EwS	Ewing sarcoma
ESFT	Ewing Sarcoma family tumors
EtBr	Ethidiumbromid
ETS	Erythroblast transformation specific
EWSR1	Ewing sarcoma break point region 1
EZH2	Enhancer of zeste homolog 2
FACS	Fluorescence-activated cell sorting
FCS	Fetal calf serum

FDA	US Food and Drug Administration	
FITC	Fluorescein isothiocyanate	
FT	Fetal tissue	
GAPDH	Glyceraldehyde-3-phosphate dehydrogenase	
GPR64	G protein-coupled receptor 64	
GPS	G-protein-coupled receptor proteolysis site	
GvHD	Graft-versus-Host disease	
HBSS	Hank's buffered salt solution	
HCI	Hydrochloric acid	
HE6	Human epididymis-specific protein 6	
iCasp9	inducible caspase 9	
IFN	Interferon	
IGF1	Insulin like growth factor 1	
IL	Interleukin	
i.p.	Intra peritoneally	
IRS	Immunoreactive score	
mAb	Monoclonal antibody	
MgCl ₂	Magnesium chloride	
MHC	Major histocompatibility complex	
MSC	Mesenchymal stem cell	
NaN ₃	Sodium azide	
NaOH	Sodium azide	
NB	Neuroblastoma	
NEAA	Non-essential amino acids	
NK cells	Natural killer cells	
NTC	Non-template control	
OS	Osteosarcoma	
PBMC	Peripheral blood mononuclear cell	

PBS	Phosphate buffered saline
PCR	Polymerase chain reaction
PD-1	Programmed cell-death protein-1
PFA	Paraformaldehyde
PGE ₂	Prostaglandin E ₂
PNET	Peripheral primitive neuroectodermal tumor
PSMA	prostate-specific membrane antigen
qRT-PCR	Quantitative reverse transcriptase polymerase chain reaction
rhIL-2	Recombinant Human Interleukin-2
RNA	Ribonucleic acid
RNAi	RNA interference
scFv	Single chain variable fragment
SEA	Sea urchin sperm protein, enterokinase and agrin
STEAP	Six-transmembrane epithelial antigen of prostate
STP	Serine/threonine/proline-rich region
SV40	Simian virus 40
ТСМ	T cell medium
TCR	T cell receptor
TM7	Seven transmembrane
TNF	Tumor necrosis factor
TRUCK	T cells redirected for universal cytokine-mediated killing
үс	Gamma chain

9.2 Supplemental tables

Table 1: Immunoreactive score (IRS) to evaluate tissue samples of Ewing Sarcomas stained with GPR64 specific hybridomas. The values of the score are obtained by multiplying the staining intensity by the proportion of positive cells.

Staining intensity	Positive cells	IRS
0: no reaction	0: non	0: negative
1: weak reaction	1: less then 10%	1-4: weakly positive
2: medium reaction	2: between 10 and 50%	6-8: moderately positive
3: strong reaction	3: between 51 and 80%	9-12: strongly positive
	4: over 80%	
9.3 List of figures

Figure 1: CAR structure.	13
Figure 2: Scheme of GPR64 protein within the membrane.	15
Figure 3: Vector map of the retroviral pMP-71 vector containing the 20F8 CAR construct.	29
Figure 4: Vector map of the retroviral pMP-71 vector containing the 8F5 CAR construct.	29
Figure 5: Expression profile of GPR64.	40
Figure 6: Characterization of GPR64 Hybridomas. 42	
Figure 7: FACS staining after infection of peripheral blood mononuclear cells (PBMCs) with GPR64-CAR-positive retroviruses	44
Figure 8: Enrichment of GPR64 specific CAR T cells	45
Figure 9: Growth curve of GPR64 specific CAR T cells.	46
Figure 10: Peptide recognition of GPR64 specific CAR T cells	48
Figure 11: Target recognition of GPR64-specific CARs.	49
Figure 12: Target-specific killing of tumor cells by GPR64-specific CAR T cells	50
Figure 13: qRT-PCR expression levels of exhaustion-associated transcription fa PRDM1 and TBX21 of GPR64 specific 20F8 CAR and 8F5 CAR T cells	ctors 51
Figure 14 : Cytokine secretion of GPR64 specific 20F8 and 8F5 CAR T cells at d 7, 10, 13 and 17 after infection and CAR negative PBMCs as control	ays 53
Figure 15: Fluorescence microscopy of 20F8 ⁺ GFP ⁺ CAR T cells	54
Figure 16: In vivo activity of GPR64 specific CAR T cells.	56

9.4 List of tables

Table 1: Immunoreactive score (IRS) to evaluate tissue samples of Ew	ing Sarcomas
stained with GPR64 specific hybridomas	72

10 ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

Zum Schluss möchte ich mich bei allen bedanken, die zum Gelingen dieser Doktorarbeit beigetragen haben:

Herrn PD Dr. Günther Richter und Herrn Prof. Stefan Burdach für die Möglichkeit meine Dissertation an diesem interessanten Thema am Forschungszentrum für krebskranke Kinder der TU München durchführen zu können.

PD Dr. Günther Richter möchte ich für die exzellente Betreuung, für die stets konstruktiven Gespräche und für seinen außergewöhnlichen Einsatz für meine Dissertation danken. Bei Problemen jeglicher Art war er immer sofort ansprechbar und mit hilfreichen Anregungen zur Stelle.

Besonderer Dank geht auch an Dr. David Schirmer für die ausgezeichnete Betreuung und Begleitung meiner Doktorarbeit, für seine unendliche Geduld und für seine großartige Hilfe und Unterstützung bei allen Fragen und Problemen.

Vielen Dank auch an Karin Wisskirchen, Felix Bohne und Antje Malo (Institut für Virologie der TU München), Elisabeth Kremmer (Helmholtz-Zentrum München) und Prof. Dr. Ivo Leuschner (Institut für Pathologie der Universität Kiel) für ihre Mitwirkung an dieser Arbeit.

Des Weiteren möchte ich mich bei Franziska Bauernschmitt für ihre Hilfe bei den statistischen Auswertungen bedanken.

Dr. David Schirmer, Fiona Becker-Dettling, Dr. Andreas Kirschner, Dr. Tim Hensel, Oxana Schmidt und Dr. Kristina von Heyking möchte ich sehr herzlich für die schöne Zeit im Labor danken. Außerdem vielen Dank, dass ihr mir immer mit Rat und Tat sowohl bei fachlichen als auch bei emotionalen Problemen geholfen habt! Fiona Becker-Dettling danke ich ganz besonders für ihr immer offenes Ohr.

Zu Letzt danke ich meiner wunderbaren Familie für ihre grenzenlose Unterstützung. Besonderer Dank geht dabei an meine beiden Schwestern für ihre wertvolle Hilfe beim Kuchen backen.

11 REFERENCES

Abken, H. (2015). "Adoptive therapy with CAR redirected T cells: the challenges in targeting solid tumors." <u>Immunotherapy</u> **7**(5): 535-544.

Anwer, F., A. A. Shaukat, U. Zahid, M. Husnain, A. McBride, D. Persky, M. Lim, N. Hasan and I. B. Riaz (2017). "Donor origin CAR T cells: graft versus malignancy effect without GVHD, a systematic review." Immunotherapy **9**(2): 123-130.

Baird, K., K. Cooke and K. R. Schultz (2010). "Chronic graft-versus-host disease (GVHD) in children." Pediatr Clin North Am **57**(1): 297-322.

Beatty, G. L., A. R. Haas, M. V. Maus, D. A. Torigian, M. C. Soulen, G. Plesa, A. Chew, Y. Zhao, B. L. Levine, S. M. Albelda, M. Kalos and C. H. June (2014). "Mesothelin-specific chimeric antigen receptor mRNA-engineered T cells induce antitumor activity in solid malignancies." <u>Cancer Immunol Res</u> **2**(2): 112-120.

Bernstein, M., H. Kovar, M. Paulussen, R. L. Randall, A. Schuck, L. A. Teot and H. Juergens (2006). "Ewing's sarcoma family of tumors: current management." <u>Oncologist</u> **11**(5): 503-519.

Bikoff, E. K., M. A. Morgan and E. J. Robertson (2009). "An expanding job description for Blimp-1/PRDM1." <u>Curr Opin Genet Dev</u> **19**(4): 379-385.

Brentjens, R. J., I. Riviere, J. H. Park, M. L. Davila, X. Wang, J. Stefanski, C. Taylor, R. Yeh, S. Bartido, O. Borquez-Ojeda, M. Olszewska, Y. Bernal, H. Pegram, M. Przybylowski, D. Hollyman, Y. Usachenko, D. Pirraglia, J. Hosey, E. Santos, E. Halton, P. Maslak, D. Scheinberg, J. Jurcic, M. Heaney, G. Heller, M. Frattini and M. Sadelain (2011). "Safety and persistence of adoptively transferred autologous CD19targeted T cells in patients with relapsed or chemotherapy refractory B-cell leukemias." <u>Blood</u> **118**(18): 4817-4828.

Budde, L. E., C. Berger, Y. Lin, J. Wang, X. Lin, S. E. Frayo, S. A. Brouns, D. M. Spencer, B. G. Till, M. C. Jensen, S. R. Riddell and O. W. Press (2013). "Combining a CD20 chimeric antigen receptor and an inducible caspase 9 suicide switch to improve the efficacy and safety of T cell adoptive immunotherapy for lymphoma." <u>PLoS One</u> **8**(12): e82742.

Burdach, S., U. Thiel, M. Schoniger, R. Haase, A. Wawer, M. Nathrath, H. Kabisch, C. Urban, H. J. Laws, U. Dirksen, M. Steinborn, J. Dunst, H. Jurgens and E. S. G. Meta (2010). "Total body MRI-governed involved compartment irradiation combined with high-dose chemotherapy and stem cell rescue improves long-term survival in Ewing tumor patients with multiple primary bone metastases." <u>Bone Marrow Transplant</u> **45**(3): 483-489.

Burdach, S., B. van Kaick, H. J. Laws, S. Ahrens, R. Haase, D. Korholz, H. Pape, J. Dunst, T. Kahn, R. Willers, B. Engel, U. Dirksen, C. Kramm, W. Nurnberger, A. Heyll, R. Ladenstein, H. Gadner, H. Jurgens and U. Go el (2000). "Allogeneic and autologous stem-cell transplantation in advanced Ewing tumors. An update after long-term follow-up from two centers of the European Intergroup study EICESS. Stem-Cell Transplant Programs at Dusseldorf University Medical Center, Germany and St. Anna Kinderspital, Vienna, Austria." <u>Ann Oncol</u> **11**(11): 1451-1462.

Chinnasamy, D., Z. Yu, S. P. Kerkar, L. Zhang, R. A. Morgan, N. P. Restifo and S. A. Rosenberg (2012). "Local delivery of interleukin-12 using T cells targeting VEGF

receptor-2 eradicates multiple vascularized tumors in mice." <u>Clin Cancer Res</u> **18**(6): 1672-1683.

Chmielewski, M. and H. Abken (2015). "TRUCKs: the fourth generation of CARs." <u>Expert Opin Biol Ther</u> **15**(8): 1145-1154.

Chmielewski, M., C. Kopecky, A. A. Hombach and H. Abken (2011). "IL-12 release by engineered T cells expressing chimeric antigen receptors can effectively Muster an antigen-independent macrophage response on tumor cells that have shut down tumor antigen expression." <u>Cancer Res</u> **71**(17): 5697-5706.

Choudhury, N. and Y. Nakamura (2016). "Importance of immunopharmacogenomics in cancer treatment: Patient selection and monitoring for immune checkpoint antibodies." <u>Cancer Sci</u> **107**(2): 107-115.

Cironi, L., N. Riggi, P. Provero, N. Wolf, M. L. Suva, D. Suva, V. Kindler and I. Stamenkovic (2008). "IGF1 is a common target gene of Ewing's sarcoma fusion proteins in mesenchymal progenitor cells." <u>PLoS One</u> **3**(7): e2634.

Couzin-Frankel, J. (2013). "Breakthrough of the year 2013. Cancer immunotherapy." Science **342**(6165): 1432-1433.

Davies, B., C. Baumann, C. Kirchhoff, R. Ivell, R. Nubbemeyer, U. F. Habenicht, F. Theuring and U. Gottwald (2004). "Targeted deletion of the epididymal receptor HE6 results in fluid dysregulation and male infertility." <u>Mol Cell Biol</u> **24**(19): 8642-8648.

Davila, M. L., I. Riviere, X. Wang, S. Bartido, J. Park, K. Curran, S. S. Chung, J. Stefanski, O. Borquez-Ojeda, M. Olszewska, J. Qu, T. Wasielewska, Q. He, M. Fink, H. Shinglot, M. Youssif, M. Satter, Y. Wang, J. Hosey, H. Quintanilla, E. Halton, Y. Bernal, D. C. Bouhassira, M. E. Arcila, M. Gonen, G. J. Roboz, P. Maslak, D. Douer, M. G. Frattini, S. Giralt, M. Sadelain and R. Brentjens (2014). "Efficacy and toxicity management of 19-28z CAR T cell therapy in B cell acute lymphoblastic leukemia." <u>Sci Transl Med</u> **6**(224): 224ra225.

Delattre, O., J. Zucman, B. Plougastel, C. Desmaze, T. Melot, M. Peter, H. Kovar, I. Joubert, P. de Jong, G. Rouleau and et al. (1992). "Gene fusion with an ETS DNAbinding domain caused by chromosome translocation in human tumours." <u>Nature</u> **359**(6391): 162-165.

Dotti, G., S. Gottschalk, B. Savoldo and M. K. Brenner (2014). "Design and development of therapies using chimeric antigen receptor-expressing T cells." <u>Immunol Rev</u> **257**(1): 107-126.

Elkord, E. and D. J. Burt (2011). "Novel IFNgamma ELISPOT assay for detection of functional carcinoembryonic antigen-specific chimeric antigen receptor-redirected T cells." <u>Scand J Immunol</u> **74**(4): 419-422.

Eshhar, Z., T. Waks, G. Gross and D. G. Schindler (1993). "Specific activation and targeting of cytotoxic lymphocytes through chimeric single chains consisting of antibody-binding domains and the gamma or zeta subunits of the immunoglobulin and T-cell receptors." <u>Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A</u> **90**(2): 720-724.

Ewing, J. (1972). "Classics in oncology. Diffuse endothelioma of bone. James Ewing. Proceedings of the New York Pathological Society, 1921." <u>CA Cancer J Clin</u> **22**(2): 95-98.

Fedorov, V. D., M. Themeli and M. Sadelain (2013). "PD-1- and CTLA-4-based inhibitory chimeric antigen receptors (iCARs) divert off-target immunotherapy responses." <u>Sci Transl Med</u> **5**(215): 215ra172.

Felgenhauer, J. L., M. L. Nieder, M. D. Krailo, M. L. Bernstein, D. W. Henry, D. Malkin, S. Baruchel, P. J. Chuba, S. L. Sailer, K. Brown, S. Ranganathan and N. Marina (2013). "A pilot study of low-dose anti-angiogenic chemotherapy in combination with standard multiagent chemotherapy for patients with newly diagnosed metastatic Ewing sarcoma family of tumors: A Children's Oncology Group (COG) Phase II study NCT00061893." Pediatr Blood Cancer **60**(3): 409-414.

Finney, H. M., A. N. Akbar and A. D. Lawson (2004). "Activation of resting human primary T cells with chimeric receptors: costimulation from CD28, inducible costimulator, CD134, and CD137 in series with signals from the TCR zeta chain." J Immunol **172**(1): 104-113.

Fletcher, C. D. M., World Health Organization. and International Agency for Research on Cancer. (2013). <u>WHO classification of tumours of soft tissue and bone</u>. Lyon, IARC Press.

Gallimore, A., A. Glithero, A. Godkin, A. C. Tissot, A. Pluckthun, T. Elliott, H. Hengartner and R. Zinkernagel (1998). "Induction and exhaustion of lymphocytic choriomeningitis virus-specific cytotoxic T lymphocytes visualized using soluble tetrameric major histocompatibility complex class I-peptide complexes." J Exp Med **187**(9): 1383-1393.

Garber, K. (2018). "Driving T-cell immunotherapy to solid tumors." <u>Nat Biotechnol</u> **36**(3): 215-219.

Gargett, T. and M. P. Brown (2015). "Different cytokine and stimulation conditions influence the expansion and immune phenotype of third-generation chimeric antigen receptor T cells specific for tumor antigen GD2." <u>Cytotherapy</u> **17**(4): 487-495.

Gaspar, N., D. S. Hawkins, U. Dirksen, I. J. Lewis, S. Ferrari, M. C. Le Deley, H. Kovar, R. Grimer, J. Whelan, L. Claude, O. Delattre, M. Paulussen, P. Picci, K. Sundby Hall, H. van den Berg, R. Ladenstein, J. Michon, L. Hjorth, I. Judson, R. Luksch, M. L. Bernstein, P. Marec-Berard, B. Brennan, A. W. Craft, R. B. Womer, H. Juergens and O. Oberlin (2015). "Ewing Sarcoma: Current Management and Future Approaches Through Collaboration." J Clin Oncol **33**(27): 3036-3046.

Goldman, J. P., M. P. Blundell, L. Lopes, C. Kinnon, J. P. Di Santo and A. J. Thrasher (1998). "Enhanced human cell engraftment in mice deficient in RAG2 and the common cytokine receptor gamma chain." <u>Br J Haematol</u> **103**(2): 335-342.

Grier, H. E., M. D. Krailo, N. J. Tarbell, M. P. Link, C. J. Fryer, D. J. Pritchard, M. C. Gebhardt, P. S. Dickman, E. J. Perlman, P. A. Meyers, S. S. Donaldson, S. Moore, A. R. Rausen, T. J. Vietti and J. S. Miser (2003). "Addition of ifosfamide and etoposide to standard chemotherapy for Ewing's sarcoma and primitive neuroectodermal tumor of bone." <u>N Engl J Med</u> **348**(8): 694-701.

Gross, G. and Z. Eshhar (2016). "Therapeutic Potential of T Cell Chimeric Antigen Receptors (CARs) in Cancer Treatment: Counteracting Off-Tumor Toxicities for Safe CAR T Cell Therapy." <u>Annu Rev Pharmacol Toxicol</u> **56**: 59-83.

Gross, G., G. Gorochov, T. Waks and Z. Eshhar (1989). "Generation of effector T cells expressing chimeric T cell receptor with antibody type-specificity." <u>Transplant Proc</u> **21**(1 Pt 1): 127-130.

Gross, G., T. Waks and Z. Eshhar (1989). "Expression of immunoglobulin-T-cell receptor chimeric molecules as functional receptors with antibody-type specificity." <u>Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A</u> **86**(24): 10024-10028.

Grunewald, T. G., V. Bernard, P. Gilardi-Hebenstreit, V. Raynal, D. Surdez, M. M. Aynaud, O. Mirabeau, F. Cidre-Aranaz, F. Tirode, S. Zaidi, G. Perot, A. H. Jonker, C. Lucchesi, M. C. Le Deley, O. Oberlin, P. Marec-Berard, A. S. Veron, S. Reynaud, E. Lapouble, V. Boeva, T. Rio Frio, J. Alonso, S. Bhatia, G. Pierron, G. Cancel-Tassin, O. Cussenot, D. G. Cox, L. M. Morton, M. J. Machiela, S. J. Chanock, P. Charnay and O. Delattre (2015). "Chimeric EWSR1-FLI1 regulates the Ewing sarcoma susceptibility gene EGR2 via a GGAA microsatellite." Nat Genet **47**(9): 1073-1078.

Grunewald, T. G., I. Diebold, I. Esposito, S. Plehm, K. Hauer, U. Thiel, P. da Silva-Buttkus, F. Neff, R. Unland, C. Muller-Tidow, C. Zobywalski, K. Lohrig, U. Lewandrowski, A. Sickmann, O. Prazeres da Costa, A. Gorlach, A. Cossarizza, E. Butt, G. H. Richter and S. Burdach (2012). "STEAP1 is associated with the invasive and oxidative stress phenotype of Ewing tumors." <u>Mol Cancer Res</u> **10**(1): 52-65.

Grupp, S. A., M. Kalos, D. Barrett, R. Aplenc, D. L. Porter, S. R. Rheingold, D. T. Teachey, A. Chew, B. Hauck, J. F. Wright, M. C. Milone, B. L. Levine and C. H. June (2013). "Chimeric antigen receptor-modified T cells for acute lymphoid leukemia." <u>N</u> Engl J Med **368**(16): 1509-1518.

Hamann, J., G. Aust, D. Arac, F. B. Engel, C. Formstone, R. Fredriksson, R. A. Hall,
B. L. Harty, C. Kirchhoff, B. Knapp, A. Krishnan, I. Liebscher, H. H. Lin, D. C.
Martinelli, K. R. Monk, M. C. Peeters, X. Piao, S. Promel, T. Schoneberg, T. W.
Schwartz, K. Singer, M. Stacey, Y. A. Ushkaryov, M. Vallon, U. Wolfrum, M. W.
Wright, L. Xu, T. Langenhan and H. B. Schioth (2015). "International Union of Basic and Clinical Pharmacology. XCIV. Adhesion G protein-coupled receptors."
Pharmacol Rev 67(2): 338-367.

Hingorani, P., M. L. Maas, M. P. Gustafson, P. Dickman, R. H. Adams, M. Watanabe, F. Eshun, J. Williams, M. J. Seidel and A. B. Dietz (2015). "Increased CTLA-4(+) T cells and an increased ratio of monocytes with loss of class II (CD14(+) HLA-DR(lo/neg)) found in aggressive pediatric sarcoma patients." J Immunother Cancer **3**: 35.

Holzinger, A., M. Barden and H. Abken (2016). "The growing world of CAR T cell trials: a systematic review." <u>Cancer Immunol Immunother</u> **65**(12): 1433-1450.

Hoyos, V., B. Savoldo, C. Quintarelli, A. Mahendravada, M. Zhang, J. Vera, H. E. Heslop, C. M. Rooney, M. K. Brenner and G. Dotti (2010). "Engineering CD19-specific T lymphocytes with interleukin-15 and a suicide gene to enhance their anti-lymphoma/leukemia effects and safety." <u>Leukemia</u> **24**(6): 1160-1170.

Imai, C., K. Mihara, M. Andreansky, I. C. Nicholson, C. H. Pui, T. L. Geiger and D. Campana (2004). "Chimeric receptors with 4-1BB signaling capacity provoke potent cytotoxicity against acute lymphoblastic leukemia." <u>Leukemia</u> **18**(4): 676-684.

Jensen, M. C., L. Popplewell, L. J. Cooper, D. DiGiusto, M. Kalos, J. R. Ostberg and S. J. Forman (2010). "Antitransgene rejection responses contribute to attenuated persistence of adoptively transferred CD20/CD19-specific chimeric antigen receptor redirected T cells in humans." <u>Biol Blood Marrow Transplant</u> **16**(9): 1245-1256.

John, L. B., C. Devaud, C. P. Duong, C. S. Yong, P. A. Beavis, N. M. Haynes, M. T. Chow, M. J. Smyth, M. H. Kershaw and P. K. Darcy (2013). "Anti-PD-1 antibody

therapy potently enhances the eradication of established tumors by gene-modified T cells." <u>Clin Cancer Res</u> **19**(20): 5636-5646.

Joshi, N. S. and S. M. Kaech (2008). "Effector CD8 T cell development: a balancing act between memory cell potential and terminal differentiation." <u>J Immunol</u> **180**(3): 1309-1315.

Juergens, C., C. Weston, I. Lewis, J. Whelan, M. Paulussen, O. Oberlin, J. Michon, A. Zoubek, H. Juergens and A. Craft (2006). "Safety assessment of intensive induction with vincristine, ifosfamide, doxorubicin, and etoposide (VIDE) in the treatment of Ewing tumors in the EURO-E.W.I.N.G. 99 clinical trial." <u>Pediatr Blood</u> <u>Cancer</u> **47**(1): 22-29.

June, C. H., S. R. Riddell and T. N. Schumacher (2015). "Adoptive cellular therapy: a race to the finish line." <u>Sci Transl Med</u> **7**(280): 280ps287.

Katz, S. C., R. A. Burga, E. McCormack, L. J. Wang, W. Mooring, G. R. Point, P. D. Khare, M. Thorn, Q. Ma, B. F. Stainken, E. O. Assanah, R. Davies, N. J. Espat and R. P. Junghans (2015). "Phase I Hepatic Immunotherapy for Metastases Study of Intra-Arterial Chimeric Antigen Receptor-Modified T-cell Therapy for CEA+ Liver Metastases." <u>Clin Cancer Res</u> **21**(14): 3149-3159.

Kawalekar, O. U., R. S. O'Connor, J. A. Fraietta, L. Guo, S. E. McGettigan, A. D. Posey, Jr., P. R. Patel, S. Guedan, J. Scholler, B. Keith, N. W. Snyder, I. A. Blair, M. C. Milone and C. H. June (2016). "Distinct Signaling of Coreceptors Regulates Specific Metabolism Pathways and Impacts Memory Development in CAR T Cells." Immunity **44**(2): 380-390.

Kerkar, S. P., R. S. Goldszmid, P. Muranski, D. Chinnasamy, Z. Yu, R. N. Reger, A. J. Leonardi, R. A. Morgan, E. Wang, F. M. Marincola, G. Trinchieri, S. A. Rosenberg and N. P. Restifo (2011). "IL-12 triggers a programmatic change in dysfunctional myeloid-derived cells within mouse tumors." J Clin Invest **121**(12): 4746-4757.

Kirchhoff, C., H. Obermann, M. Behnen and B. Davies (2006). "Role of epididymal receptor HE6 in the regulation of sperm microenvironment." <u>Mol Cell Endocrinol</u> **250**(1-2): 43-48.

Kirchhoff, C., C. Osterhoff and A. Samalecos (2008). "HE6/GPR64 adhesion receptor co-localizes with apical and subapical F-actin scaffold in male excurrent duct epithelia." <u>Reproduction</u> **136**(2): 235-245.

Klebanoff, C. A., S. E. Finkelstein, D. R. Surman, M. K. Lichtman, L. Gattinoni, M. R. Theoret, N. Grewal, P. J. Spiess, P. A. Antony, D. C. Palmer, Y. Tagaya, S. A. Rosenberg, T. A. Waldmann and N. P. Restifo (2004). "IL-15 enhances the in vivo antitumor activity of tumor-reactive CD8+ T cells." <u>Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A</u> **101**(7): 1969-1974.

Kloss, C. C., M. Condomines, M. Cartellieri, M. Bachmann and M. Sadelain (2013). "Combinatorial antigen recognition with balanced signaling promotes selective tumor eradication by engineered T cells." <u>Nat Biotechnol</u> **31**(1): 71-75.

Kochenderfer, J. N., M. E. Dudley, S. A. Feldman, W. H. Wilson, D. E. Spaner, I. Maric, M. Stetler-Stevenson, G. Q. Phan, M. S. Hughes, R. M. Sherry, J. C. Yang, U. S. Kammula, L. Devillier, R. Carpenter, D. A. Nathan, R. A. Morgan, C. Laurencot and S. A. Rosenberg (2012). "B-cell depletion and remissions of malignancy along with cytokine-associated toxicity in a clinical trial of anti-CD19 chimeric-antigen-receptor-transduced T cells." <u>Blood</u> **119**(12): 2709-2720.

Kochenderfer, J. N., M. E. Dudley, S. H. Kassim, R. P. Somerville, R. O. Carpenter, M. Stetler-Stevenson, J. C. Yang, G. Q. Phan, M. S. Hughes, R. M. Sherry, M. Raffeld, S. Feldman, L. Lu, Y. F. Li, L. T. Ngo, A. Goy, T. Feldman, D. E. Spaner, M. L. Wang, C. C. Chen, S. M. Kranick, A. Nath, D. A. Nathan, K. E. Morton, M. A. Toomey and S. A. Rosenberg (2015). "Chemotherapy-refractory diffuse large B-cell lymphoma and indolent B-cell malignancies can be effectively treated with autologous T cells expressing an anti-CD19 chimeric antigen receptor." J Clin Oncol **33**(6): 540-549.

Kolb, H. J., A. Schattenberg, J. M. Goldman, B. Hertenstein, N. Jacobsen, W. Arcese, P. Ljungman, A. Ferrant, L. Verdonck, D. Niederwieser, F. van Rhee, J. Mittermueller, T. de Witte, E. Holler, H. Ansari, B. European Group for and L. Marrow Transplantation Working Party Chronic (1995). "Graft-versus-leukemia effect of donor lymphocyte transfusions in marrow grafted patients." <u>Blood</u> **86**(5): 2041-2050.

Kovar, H. (2005). "Context matters: the hen or egg problem in Ewing's sarcoma." <u>Semin Cancer Biol</u> **15**(3): 189-196.

Kovar, H., J. Amatruda, E. Brunet, S. Burdach, F. Cidre-Aranaz, E. de Alava, U. Dirksen, W. van der Ent, P. Grohar, T. G. Grunewald, L. Helman, P. Houghton, K. Iljin, E. Korsching, M. Ladanyi, E. Lawlor, S. Lessnick, J. Ludwig, P. Meltzer, M. Metzler, J. Mora, R. Moriggl, T. Nakamura, T. Papamarkou, B. Radic Sarikas, F. Redini, G. H. Richter, C. Rossig, K. Schadler, B. W. Schafer, K. Scotlandi, N. C. Sheffield, A. Shelat, E. Snaar-Jagalska, P. Sorensen, K. Stegmaier, E. Stewart, A. Sweet-Cordero, K. Szuhai, O. M. Tirado, F. Tirode, J. Toretsky, K. Tsafou, A. Uren, A. Zinovyev and O. Delattre (2016). "The second European interdisciplinary Ewing sarcoma research summit--A joint effort to deconstructing the multiple layers of a complex disease." <u>Oncotarget **7**</u>(8): 8613-8624.

Lamers, C. H., S. Sleijfer, A. G. Vulto, W. H. Kruit, M. Kliffen, R. Debets, J. W. Gratama, G. Stoter and E. Oosterwijk (2006). "Treatment of metastatic renal cell carcinoma with autologous T-lymphocytes genetically retargeted against carbonic anhydrase IX: first clinical experience." <u>J Clin Oncol</u> **24**(13): e20-22.

Lamers, C. H., S. van Steenbergen-Langeveld, M. van Brakel, C. M. Groot-van Ruijven, P. M. van Elzakker, B. van Krimpen, S. Sleijfer and R. Debets (2014). "T cell receptor-engineered T cells to treat solid tumors: T cell processing toward optimal T cell fitness." <u>Hum Gene Ther Methods</u> **25**(6): 345-357.

Lee, D. W., R. Gardner, D. L. Porter, C. U. Louis, N. Ahmed, M. Jensen, S. A. Grupp and C. L. Mackall (2014). "Current concepts in the diagnosis and management of cytokine release syndrome." <u>Blood</u> **124**(2): 188-195.

Long, A. H., W. M. Haso, J. F. Shern, K. M. Wanhainen, M. Murgai, M. Ingaramo, J. P. Smith, A. J. Walker, M. E. Kohler, V. R. Venkateshwara, R. N. Kaplan, G. H. Patterson, T. J. Fry, R. J. Orentas and C. L. Mackall (2015). "4-1BB costimulation ameliorates T cell exhaustion induced by tonic signaling of chimeric antigen receptors." <u>Nat Med</u> **21**(6): 581-590.

Louis, C. U., B. Savoldo, G. Dotti, M. Pule, E. Yvon, G. D. Myers, C. Rossig, H. V. Russell, O. Diouf, E. Liu, H. Liu, M. F. Wu, A. P. Gee, Z. Mei, C. M. Rooney, H. E. Heslop and M. K. Brenner (2011). "Antitumor activity and long-term fate of chimeric antigen receptor-positive T cells in patients with neuroblastoma." <u>Blood</u> **118**(23): 6050-6056.

Maher, J., R. J. Brentjens, G. Gunset, I. Riviere and M. Sadelain (2002). "Human Tlymphocyte cytotoxicity and proliferation directed by a single chimeric TCRzeta /CD28 receptor." <u>Nat Biotechnol</u> **20**(1): 70-75.

Martins, G. and K. Calame (2008). "Regulation and functions of Blimp-1 in T and B lymphocytes." <u>Annu Rev Immunol</u> **26**: 133-169.

Maude, S. L., N. Frey, P. A. Shaw, R. Aplenc, D. M. Barrett, N. J. Bunin, A. Chew, V. E. Gonzalez, Z. Zheng, S. F. Lacey, Y. D. Mahnke, J. J. Melenhorst, S. R. Rheingold, A. Shen, D. T. Teachey, B. L. Levine, C. H. June, D. L. Porter and S. A. Grupp (2014). "Chimeric antigen receptor T cells for sustained remissions in leukemia." <u>N</u> Engl J Med **371**(16): 1507-1517.

Maus, M. V., S. A. Grupp, D. L. Porter and C. H. June (2014). "Antibody-modified T cells: CARs take the front seat for hematologic malignancies." <u>Blood</u> **123**(17): 2625-2635.

McCaughan, G. J., M. J. Fulham, A. Mahar, J. Soper, A. M. Hong, P. D. Stalley, M. H. Tattersall and V. A. Bhadri (2016). "Programmed cell death-1 blockade in recurrent disseminated Ewing sarcoma." <u>J Hematol Oncol</u> **9**(1): 48.

Milone, M. C., J. D. Fish, C. Carpenito, R. G. Carroll, G. K. Binder, D. Teachey, M. Samanta, M. Lakhal, B. Gloss, G. Danet-Desnoyers, D. Campana, J. L. Riley, S. A. Grupp and C. H. June (2009). "Chimeric receptors containing CD137 signal transduction domains mediate enhanced survival of T cells and increased antileukemic efficacy in vivo." <u>Mol Ther</u> **17**(8): 1453-1464.

Morgan, R. A., J. C. Yang, M. Kitano, M. E. Dudley, C. M. Laurencot and S. A. Rosenberg (2010). "Case report of a serious adverse event following the administration of T cells transduced with a chimeric antigen receptor recognizing ERBB2." <u>Mol Ther</u> **18**(4): 843-851.

Morrow, T. (2017). "Novartis's Kymriah: Harnessing Immune System Comes With Worry About Reining in Costs." <u>Manag Care</u> **26**(10): 28-30.

Obermann, H., A. Samalecos, C. Osterhoff, B. Schroder, R. Heller and C. Kirchhoff (2003). "HE6, a two-subunit heptahelical receptor associated with apical membranes of efferent and epididymal duct epithelia." <u>Mol Reprod Dev</u> **64**(1): 13-26.

Osterhoff, C., R. Ivell and C. Kirchhoff (1997). "Cloning of a human epididymisspecific mRNA, HE6, encoding a novel member of the seven transmembrane-domain receptor superfamily." <u>DNA Cell Biol</u> **16**(4): 379-389.

Pardoll, D. M. (2012). "The blockade of immune checkpoints in cancer immunotherapy." <u>Nat Rev Cancer</u> **12**(4): 252-264.

Pegram, H. J., J. C. Lee, E. G. Hayman, G. H. Imperato, T. F. Tedder, M. Sadelain and R. J. Brentjens (2012). "Tumor-targeted T cells modified to secrete IL-12 eradicate systemic tumors without need for prior conditioning." <u>Blood</u> **119**(18): 4133-4141.

Porter, D. L., W. T. Hwang, N. V. Frey, S. F. Lacey, P. A. Shaw, A. W. Loren, A. Bagg, K. T. Marcucci, A. Shen, V. Gonzalez, D. Ambrose, S. A. Grupp, A. Chew, Z. Zheng, M. C. Milone, B. L. Levine, J. J. Melenhorst and C. H. June (2015). "Chimeric antigen receptor T cells persist and induce sustained remissions in relapsed refractory chronic lymphocytic leukemia." <u>Sci Transl Med</u> **7**(303): 303ra139.

Potratz, J., U. Dirksen, H. Jurgens and A. Craft (2012). "Ewing sarcoma: clinical state-of-the-art." <u>Pediatr Hematol Oncol</u> **29**(1): 1-11.

Pule, M. A., B. Savoldo, G. D. Myers, C. Rossig, H. V. Russell, G. Dotti, M. H. Huls, E. Liu, A. P. Gee, Z. Mei, E. Yvon, H. L. Weiss, H. Liu, C. M. Rooney, H. E. Heslop and M. K. Brenner (2008). "Virus-specific T cells engineered to coexpress tumor-specific receptors: persistence and antitumor activity in individuals with neuroblastoma." Nat Med **14**(11): 1264-1270.

Quintarelli, C., D. Orlando, I. Boffa, M. Guercio, V. A. Polito, A. Petretto, C. Lavarello, M. Sinibaldi, G. Weber, F. Del Bufalo, E. Giorda, M. Scarsella, S. Petrini, D. Pagliara, F. Locatelli, B. De Angelis and I. Caruana (2018). "Choice of costimulatory domains and of cytokines determines CAR T-cell activity in neuroblastoma." <u>Oncoimmunology</u> **7**(6): e1433518.

Richter, G. H., A. Fasan, K. Hauer, T. G. Grunewald, C. Berns, S. Rossler, I. Naumann, M. S. Staege, S. Fulda, I. Esposito and S. Burdach (2013). Expression profile of GPR64.

Richter, G. H., A. Fasan, K. Hauer, T. G. Grunewald, C. Berns, S. Rossler, I. Naumann, M. S. Staege, S. Fulda, I. Esposito and S. Burdach (2013). "G-Protein coupled receptor 64 promotes invasiveness and metastasis in Ewing sarcomas through PGF and MMP1." J Pathol **230**(1): 70-81.

Richter, G. H., S. Plehm, A. Fasan, S. Rossler, R. Unland, I. M. Bennani-Baiti, M. Hotfilder, D. Lowel, I. von Luettichau, I. Mossbrugger, L. Quintanilla-Martinez, H. Kovar, M. S. Staege, C. Muller-Tidow and S. Burdach (2009). "EZH2 is a mediator of EWS/FLI1 driven tumor growth and metastasis blocking endothelial and neuroectodermal differentiation." <u>Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A</u> **106**(13): 5324-5329.

Riggi, N., B. Knoechel, S. M. Gillespie, E. Rheinbay, G. Boulay, M. L. Suva, N. E. Rossetti, W. E. Boonseng, O. Oksuz, E. B. Cook, A. Formey, A. Patel, M. Gymrek, V. Thapar, V. Deshpande, D. T. Ting, F. J. Hornicek, G. P. Nielsen, I. Stamenkovic, M. J. Aryee, B. E. Bernstein and M. N. Rivera (2014). "EWS-FLI1 utilizes divergent chromatin remodeling mechanisms to directly activate or repress enhancer elements in Ewing sarcoma." <u>Cancer Cell</u> **26**(5): 668-681.

Riggi, N., M. L. Suva, D. Suva, L. Cironi, P. Provero, S. Tercier, J. M. Joseph, J. C. Stehle, K. Baumer, V. Kindler and I. Stamenkovic (2008). "EWS-FLI-1 expression triggers a Ewing's sarcoma initiation program in primary human mesenchymal stem cells." <u>Cancer Res</u> **68**(7): 2176-2185.

Rizvi, N. A., M. D. Hellmann, A. Snyder, P. Kvistborg, V. Makarov, J. J. Havel, W. Lee, J. Yuan, P. Wong, T. S. Ho, M. L. Miller, N. Rekhtman, A. L. Moreira, F. Ibrahim, C. Bruggeman, B. Gasmi, R. Zappasodi, Y. Maeda, C. Sander, E. B. Garon, T. Merghoub, J. D. Wolchok, T. N. Schumacher and T. A. Chan (2015). "Cancer immunology. Mutational landscape determines sensitivity to PD-1 blockade in non-small cell lung cancer." <u>Science</u> **348**(6230): 124-128.

Robert, C., J. Schachter, G. V. Long, A. Arance, J. J. Grob, L. Mortier, A. Daud, M. S. Carlino, C. McNeil, M. Lotem, J. Larkin, P. Lorigan, B. Neyns, C. U. Blank, O. Hamid, C. Mateus, R. Shapira-Frommer, M. Kosh, H. Zhou, N. Ibrahim, S. Ebbinghaus, A. Ribas and K.-. investigators (2015). "Pembrolizumab versus Ipilimumab in Advanced Melanoma." <u>N Engl J Med</u> **372**(26): 2521-2532.

Rosenberg, S. A. and N. P. Restifo (2015). "Adoptive cell transfer as personalized immunotherapy for human cancer." <u>Science</u> **348**(6230): 62-68.

Sadelain, M., R. Brentjens and I. Riviere (2013). "The basic principles of chimeric antigen receptor design." <u>Cancer Discov</u> **3**(4): 388-398.

Schuck, A., S. Ahrens, M. Paulussen, M. Kuhlen, S. Konemann, C. Rube, W. Winkelmann, R. Kotz, J. Dunst, N. Willich and H. Jurgens (2003). "Local therapy in localized Ewing tumors: results of 1058 patients treated in the CESS 81, CESS 86, and EICESS 92 trials." Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys **55**(1): 168-177.

Shin, H., S. D. Blackburn, A. M. Intlekofer, C. Kao, J. M. Angelosanto, S. L. Reiner and E. J. Wherry (2009). "A role for the transcriptional repressor Blimp-1 in CD8(+) T cell exhaustion during chronic viral infection." <u>Immunity</u> **31**(2): 309-320.

Si, W., C. Li and P. Wei (2018). "Synthetic immunology: T-cell engineering and adoptive immunotherapy." <u>Synth Syst Biotechnol</u> **3**(3): 179-185.

Staege, M. S., C. Hutter, I. Neumann, S. Foja, U. E. Hattenhorst, G. Hansen, D. Afar and S. E. Burdach (2004). "DNA microarrays reveal relationship of Ewing family tumors to both endothelial and fetal neural crest-derived cells and define novel targets." <u>Cancer Res</u> **64**(22): 8213-8221.

Stahl, M., A. Ranft, M. Paulussen, T. Bolling, V. Vieth, S. Bielack, I. Gortitz, G. Braun-Munzinger, J. Hardes, H. Jurgens and U. Dirksen (2011). "Risk of recurrence and survival after relapse in patients with Ewing sarcoma." <u>Pediatr Blood Cancer</u> **57**(4): 549-553.

Tanaka, M., Y. Yamazaki, Y. Kanno, K. Igarashi, K. Aisaki, J. Kanno and T. Nakamura (2014). "Ewing's sarcoma precursors are highly enriched in embryonic osteochondrogenic progenitors." J Clin Invest **124**(7): 3061-3074.

Thiel, U., S. Pirson, C. Muller-Spahn, H. Conrad, D. H. Busch, H. Bernhard, S. Burdach and G. H. Richter (2011). "Specific recognition and inhibition of Ewing tumour growth by antigen-specific allo-restricted cytotoxic T cells." <u>Br J Cancer</u> **104**(6): 948-956.

Thiel, U., A. Wawer, I. von Luettichau, H. U. Bender, F. Blaeschke, T. G. Grunewald, M. Steinborn, B. Roper, H. Bonig, T. Klingebiel, P. Bader, E. Koscielniak, M. Paulussen, U. Dirksen, H. Juergens, H. J. Kolb and S. E. Burdach (2016). "Bone marrow involvement identifies a subgroup of advanced Ewing sarcoma patients with fatal outcome irrespective of therapy in contrast to curable patients with multiple bone metastases but unaffected marrow." <u>Oncotarget</u> **7**(43): 70959-70968.

Thiel, U., A. Wawer, P. Wolf, M. Badoglio, A. Santucci, T. Klingebiel, O. Basu, A.
Borkhardt, H. J. Laws, Y. Kodera, A. Yoshimi, C. Peters, R. Ladenstein, A. Pession,
A. Prete, E. C. Urban, W. Schwinger, P. Bordigoni, A. Salmon, M. A. Diaz, B.
Afanasyev, I. Lisukov, E. Morozova, A. Toren, B. Bielorai, J. Korsakas, F. Fagioli, D.
Caselli, G. Ehninger, B. Gruhn, U. Dirksen, F. Abdel-Rahman, M. Aglietta, E.
Mastrodicasa, M. Torrent, P. Corradini, F. Demeocq, G. Dini, P. Dreger, M. Eyrich, J.
Gozdzik, F. Guilhot, E. Holler, E. Koscielniak, C. Messina, D. Nachbaur, R. Sabbatini,
E. Oldani, H. Ottinger, H. Ozsahin, R. Schots, S. Siena, J. Stein, S. Sufliarska, A.
Unal, M. Ussowicz, P. Schneider, W. Woessmann, H. Jurgens, M. Bregni, S.
Burdach, P. Solid Tumor Working, B. the Pediatric DiseaseWorking Party of the
European Group for, T. Marrow, B. Asia Pacific, T. Marrow, T. Pediatric Registry for
Stem Cell and E. S. G. Meta (2011). "No improvement of survival with reducedversus high-intensity conditioning for allogeneic stem cell transplants in Ewing tumor
patients." Ann Oncol **22**(7): 1614-1621.

Till, B. G., M. C. Jensen, J. Wang, E. Y. Chen, B. L. Wood, H. A. Greisman, X. Qian, S. E. James, A. Raubitschek, S. J. Forman, A. K. Gopal, J. M. Pagel, C. G. Lindgren, P. D. Greenberg, S. R. Riddell and O. W. Press (2008). "Adoptive immunotherapy for indolent non-Hodgkin lymphoma and mantle cell lymphoma using genetically modified autologous CD20-specific T cells." <u>Blood</u> **112**(6): 2261-2271.

Van Allen, E. M., D. Miao, B. Schilling, S. A. Shukla, C. Blank, L. Zimmer, A. Sucker, U. Hillen, M. H. G. Foppen, S. M. Goldinger, J. Utikal, J. C. Hassel, B. Weide, K. C. Kaehler, C. Loquai, P. Mohr, R. Gutzmer, R. Dummer, S. Gabriel, C. J. Wu, D. Schadendorf and L. A. Garraway (2015). "Genomic correlates of response to CTLA-4 blockade in metastatic melanoma." <u>Science</u> **350**(6257): 207-211.

Virgin, H. W., E. J. Wherry and R. Ahmed (2009). "Redefining chronic viral infection." <u>Cell</u> **138**(1): 30-50.

Wang, X., W. C. Chang, C. W. Wong, D. Colcher, M. Sherman, J. R. Ostberg, S. J. Forman, S. R. Riddell and M. C. Jensen (2011). "A transgene-encoded cell surface polypeptide for selection, in vivo tracking, and ablation of engineered cells." <u>Blood</u> **118**(5): 1255-1263.

Wherry, E. J. (2011). "T cell exhaustion." <u>Nat Immunol</u> **12**(6): 492-499.

Wherry, E. J., S. J. Ha, S. M. Kaech, W. N. Haining, S. Sarkar, V. Kalia, S. Subramaniam, J. N. Blattman, D. L. Barber and R. Ahmed (2007). "Molecular signature of CD8+ T cell exhaustion during chronic viral infection." <u>Immunity</u> **27**(4): 670-684.

Widhe, B. and T. Widhe (2000). "Initial symptoms and clinical features in osteosarcoma and Ewing sarcoma." <u>J Bone Joint Surg Am</u> **82**(5): 667-674.

Worch, J., J. Cyrus, R. Goldsby, K. K. Matthay, J. Neuhaus and S. G. DuBois (2011). "Racial differences in the incidence of mesenchymal tumors associated with EWSR1 translocation." <u>Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev</u> **20**(3): 449-453.

Xu, Y., M. Zhang, C. A. Ramos, A. Durett, E. Liu, O. Dakhova, H. Liu, C. J. Creighton, A. P. Gee, H. E. Heslop, C. M. Rooney, B. Savoldo and G. Dotti (2014). "Closely related T-memory stem cells correlate with in vivo expansion of CAR.CD19-T cells and are preserved by IL-7 and IL-15." <u>Blood</u> **123**(24): 3750-3759.

Yang, S., Y. Ji, L. Gattinoni, L. Zhang, Z. Yu, N. P. Restifo, S. A. Rosenberg and R. A. Morgan (2013). "Modulating the differentiation status of ex vivo-cultured anti-tumor T cells using cytokine cocktails." <u>Cancer Immunol Immunother</u> **62**(4): 727-736.

Zajac, A. J., J. N. Blattman, K. Murali-Krishna, D. J. Sourdive, M. Suresh, J. D. Altman and R. Ahmed (1998). "Viral immune evasion due to persistence of activated T cells without effector function." <u>J Exp Med</u> **188**(12): 2205-2213.

Zhou, G. and H. Levitsky (2012). "Towards curative cancer immunotherapy: overcoming posttherapy tumor escape." <u>Clin Dev Immunol</u> **2012**: 124187.